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Independent Auditor’s Report

Ernst & Young

11 Mounts Bay Road

Perth WA 6000 Australia

GPO Box M939 Perth WA 6843
Independent auditor’s report to the members of Dragon
Mining Limited
Report on the audit of the financial report

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Dragon Mining Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the Group) set out on pages 130 to 218, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2019, the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing issued by the International Federation
of Accountants. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants and the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards Board
for Accountants (collectively the “Codes”) that are relevant
to our audit of the financial report. We have also fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Codes.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont'd)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
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statements.
1.  Carrying value of inventories

Why significant
DS

1. FEREEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters
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As disclosed in Note 6, the Group held inventories
as at 31 December 2019 of AU$16.684 million,
which related to ore and concentrate stockpiles,
gold in circuit, raw materials and stores.

Inventory is a significant asset which requires
judgement in determining an appropriate costing
allocation and assessing if the carrying value is
recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Accordingly, we considered the carrying
value of inventories to be a key audit matter.
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We obtained an understanding of the Group’s
processes in respect of inventory valuation.

We assessed the accuracy of the Group’s inventory
valuation model including evaluating the costs,
assumptions and methodologies used in the model.

We selected a sample of inventory items to evaluate
whether, based on their nature, costs were correctly
determined and allocated.

We re-performed calculations to confirm that
inventories were recorded at the lower of cost and net
realisable value, including evaluating gold price and
cost to complete assumptions.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont'd)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT’D)

28

Recognition and measurement of rehabilitation provisions 2.

Why significant
Ty E 2

T A Bl o (4)

HREEZEEE)
EERBORANRE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters
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As disclosed in Note 12, the Group recorded
rehabilitation provisions totalling AU$18.992
million as at 31 December 2019 relating to the
mine sites and processing facilities in Sweden and
Finland.

As disclosed in Note 1(s) the calculation of these
provisions required judgment in estimating the
future costs, the timing as to when the future
costs will be incurred and the determination of an
appropriate rate to discount the future costs to their
present value. The Group reviews rehabilitation
obligations that have arisen semi-annually, or as
new information becomes available, including an
assessment of the underlying assumptions used,
effects of any changes in local regulations, and the
expected approach to rehabilitation.
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We assessed the Group’s calculation of the
rehabilitation provisions and obtained explanations to
support material movements in the provisions during
the year.

We evaluated the legal and/or constructive obligations
with respect to the rehabilitation for all mine sites
and processing facilities, the intended method of
rehabilitation and the associated cost estimates.

We assessed the competence, capability and
objectivity of the external experts who compiled the
data that supported the provisions and considered
the appropriateness of their work in conducting our
procedures.

We also assessed the accuracy of the calculations used
to determine the rehabilitation provision including the
discount rate applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont'd)

EMPHASIS OF MATTER: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
— IMPACT OF THE CORONAVIRUS (COVID-19)
OUTBREAK

We draw attention to Note 25 of the financial report which
notes the World Health Organisation’s declaration of the
outbreak of COVID-19 as a global pandemic subsequent
to 31 December 2019 and how this has been considered
by the directors in the preparation of the financial report.
As set out in Note 25, no adjustments have been made to
financial statements as at 31 December 2019 for the impacts
of COVID-19. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Company’s 2019 Annual Report, other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont'd)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit and Risk
Management Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE FINANCIAL REPORT

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the
International Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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128 Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont'd) B AZ B ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF 8RBT MBRERENSE(E)
THE FINANCIAL REPORT (CONT’D)

As part of an audit in accordance with the International  FEMR{ECE BT QD EATFE R AR > IR
Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgment and {73 ] 73R > (R3F T E R - T
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: {75 :

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the o & BI R A i 772 S e i o o 1 480 ke 4 4 B

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud TR AT AE TR B R Bl i U > R
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive AT AT FE 7 DAE S 75 SR > DA S
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient FO RN AR > ERRME RN
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The LR o g A IREE T REWS M AR - IR - F
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from BB - R > B T AR ]
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud b RIS i R DR G T 2 ) A B
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, R R I 1 L g v A R 2 L IR Y R T
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. F14 TR R i R R Al ) B

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to o B fif B 5HAH B AG AR EE 0 > DARERHE &

the audit in order to design audit procedures that are MRERTRET » (HEREJES &4 A
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose PEHI B R

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used o FFAE T 35 AT B & - BOR 1940 8 1 S AR
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related B TR B 4 R Y 5 B o
disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of o ¥ % 35 5 I F5 A8 4088 & s IR A0 45 PEAE

the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the A o ARIR PR R IR A W
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty J& AT A B TE EE UL A B R R
exists related to events or conditions that may cast EVE - (A RE R B ARG
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a ERE R AT RBEIE o A RIAM RS AFAE
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty HRAMEENE > JIA B AL BEmR S
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s $ A ol 1 2 TR R A A5 R o 9 A B
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated % o RAA BB AL HIFRAM 5
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, T AR R - AP &SRS B
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the Al B IR ITER 1 2 5HERE o ST - R
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s AMETE ST REE S EEEAREEE
report. However, future events or conditions may cause KL o

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED Annual Report 2019
e E R AR A A = F — LE F R



Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont'd)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE FINANCIAL REPORT (CONT’D)

e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Jemma K Newton.

Ernst & Young
Perth
17 April 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Revenue from customers
Cost of sales

Gross profit/(loss)

Other revenue

Other income

Exploration expenditure

Management and administration
expenses

Other expenses

Finance costs

Foreign exchange loss

Hong Kong listing costs

Profit/(loss) before tax
Income tax expense

Profit/(loss) after income tax

Earnings per share attributable to
ordinary equity holders of
the parent (cents per share)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
AR A R A A

AR AR AR

HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E

gl

E7,(E18)
HoAtu s g
HeAtl A

B S

BB R AT 52

HoAtBA 2
A A
SMHE TR
A b A

BRBLADEF] (E518)
Bt B 52

BRATSBiRIEF (B5E)
BRARAEBEREEA

EiEZRER
(b B

HIRFEAZF], (k18)

R A (kR)

Note
o2

19

19

2019 2018
20195 20184E
AU$’000 AU$’000
TR T
53,073 37,850
(42,208) (41,154)
10,865 (3,304)
73 216

1,136 35
(60) (51)
(4,914) (3,754)
(83) (398)

(210) (191)
(496) (782)
- (1,302)
6,311 (9,531)
6,311 (9,531)
4.55 (9.90)
4.55 (9.90)




Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income 4% Hifl 2 i e 25 56 131

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BWE2019F12 431 H IL4FE
2019 2018
20195 20184
AU$’000 AU$’000
FBRT T#T
Profit/(loss) after income tax BRETEBERF,(EE8)
(brought forward) (7Hi) 6,311 (9,531)
Other comprehensive income Hft2mEBA
Other comprehensive income AR I [ A 7 =
to be reclassified to profit or 1R i A9 HA
loss in subsequent periods: PHA -
(Loss)/gain on foreign currency translation HINEERE 58, (B51R) WS (394) 1,620
Net other comprehensive income BREZUBEFIES
to be reclassified to profit or B HEA
loss in subsequent periods EHEWAFHE (394) 1,620
Total comprehensive income/(loss) HAZEKRA(EE)
for the period mE 5,917 (7,911)
Income/(loss) attributable to: BT ATREAEBA(EBE) :
Members of Dragon Mining Limited HE B IRAT IR A RBOR 6,311 (9,531)
6,311 (9,531)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) UTATEEZERA
attributable to: (B8R A8
Members of Dragon Mining Limited HEEURA IR A RIBOR 5,917 (7,911)
5,917 (7,911)
DRAGON MINING LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2019

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories

Other assets

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment

Mineral exploration and evaluation costs

Right-of-use assets
Other assets

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Provisions

Interest bearing liabilities
Other liabilities

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions

Interest bearing liabilities
Other liabilities

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated losses

TOTAL EQUITY

REBEE

e M EFEY)
® oy St HARE WO IA
175

Fopt

RBEEAE

FRBEE
N T ]
RS B R At A
o A 2
Hofh e e

FRBEERE
EEAE

REBEE

B’ oy T HAE A 3RH
i)

FHE A fiE

it £ £

REEEEE

FnBEME
A

S A
HAf 8

FRBEERE
AERE
BEFE

Rz
TRA
it i
LN

EEAE

Arthur G Dew
IREEE
Director

HEH

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
AR A R A A

f o A5 IR LA

2019412 A31H

2019 2018
20194 20184E

Note AU$’000 AU$/000
B 5T FET T T
4 8,182 10,905
5 5,949 3,990
6 16,684 10,057
10 163 429
30,978 25,381

7 33,347 26,556
8 8,699 5,333
9 320 -
10 5,289 5,480
47,655 37,369

78,633 62,750

11 7,049 6,409
12 2,263 1,892
13 65 7
226 100

9,603 8,408

12 19,114 12,617
13 6,535 4,278
17 -

25,666 16,895

35,269 25,303

43,364 37,447

14 133,991 133,991
15 417) (23)
(90,210) (96,521)

43,364 37,447

Brett R Smith
Director

HF



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2019

At 1 January 2018

Loss for the period
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income
for the period

Transactions with owners in their

capacity as owners:
Issue of shares (net of cost)

At 31 December 2018

At 1 January 2019

Profit for the period

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income
for the period

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners:

At 31 December 2019

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
AR A R A A

R2018%F181H

HmEH
Hb2mERA

M2 T A

SLEEA N (LUICHER N 0)

s
BRI

120185128318
R2019E1818
A A
RERLETTION

LNETION &

SLHEA A\ (LB N BH)

155

R2019E12A31H

»VT D@

T SR AR

HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E

Equity

Reserve

Convertible  Purchase of

Foreign Note Non-

Contributed Accumulated ~ Currency Premium  controlling
Equity Losses  Translation Reserve Interest  Total Equity

FER

TEAZE RnMED
BEARA  RHBR  SRER  RERG  RREEE  ER4R
AU$000 AU$000 AU$000 AU$000 AU$000 AU$000
Fan Fén Fén Tén Fén Tén
119,992 (86,990) (4,780) 2,068 1,009 31,359
- (9,531) - - - (9,531)
- - 1,620 - - 1,620
- (9,531) 1,620 - - (7,911)
13,999 - - - - 13,999
133,991 (96,521) (3,160) 2,068 1,069 37,447
133,991 (96,521) (3,160) 2,068 1,069 37,447
- 6,311 - - - 6,311
- - (394) - - (394)
- 6,311 (394) - - 5917
133,991 (90,210) (3,554) 2,068 1,069 43,364
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers

Payments to suppliers and employees
Payments for mineral exploration
Interest received

Interest expense

Net cash from/(used in)
operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property,
plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property,
plant and equipment
Payments for development activities
Proceeds from bond held on deposit
Refund of environmental bonds

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Lease liability payments

Proceeds from share issue
Drawdown of loan

Repayment of loan

Share issue costs

Net cash from financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the period

Effects of exchange rate changes on
cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the period

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
AR A R A A

o BleinER

HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E

Note
o2

REFHHRIRE
W2 % 5 KA

1] {3t 8 e 2% A B A K
LB EE FDER A K
EHCFLE

FLEBH 32

BEEEE,(FrA)
HEeHEE 4

RETDHHRERE

WSE ~ Bs I
GATENEN

S EYIZE - ME X
B T 0H

EINEE ST DR
AT T AR

BRARFFIR K

REEDAAREFH

BMEITBHHRLSRE
A E K
JREAS AT I A5 3K TH
FRIUEEK
BB
JREAY B AT AR

BEED RSB

B S T (W)
41
WIVIBL & M

e SB35
B AL

HRRERREEEY

2019 2018
20195 20184E
AU$’000 AU$’000
TR T
53,196 36,587
(45,345) (45,037)
(59) (68)

66 225
(237) (170)
7,621 (8,463)
(6,983) (3,249)
1,113 -
(6,431) (5,329)
- 9

17 -
(12,284) (8,569)
(30) 1)

- 17,890
2,000 9,000

- (5,000)

- (933)
1,970 20,046
(2,698) 3,914
10,905 6,609
(30) 382
8,182 10,905




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a)

Reporting Entity

Dragon Mining Limited (the “Company” or the
“Parent Entity”) was incorporated as an Australian
Public Company, limited by shares on 23 April 1990,
and is subject to the requirements of the Australian
Corporations Act 2001 as governed by the Australian
Securities and Investment Commission. The Company
is domiciled in Australia and its registered office is
located at Unit 202, 39 Mends Street, South Perth,
WA 6151 Australia.

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019 were authorised for issue
in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on
17 April 2020.

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the
Company as at and for the year ended 31 December
2019 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Consolidated Entity”
or the “Group”). The Group is a for profit entity,
primarily involved in gold mining operations and
gold mineral exploration. The Company has direct
and indirect interests in its subsidiaries, all of which
have substantially similar characteristics to a private
company incorporated in Hong Kong, the particulars
of which are set out below:

Place and date of

1.

o o A 25 e Pk

HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E

a)

AAEHREESHBEREE

mEEE

FEEVRA PR A ([ A A |8 LARS YN

7 1) 7 19904E4 23 A 2Lt A7

— BRI RS T > s ey ﬁFE/A

13EH@¢@Mmm$z1&

Eﬁ‘?ﬁ*ﬂﬁ ° 74—‘"773/‘ (Jllnfﬂ%ﬁk
Eufﬂﬂ#ﬁ%ﬁuﬁmmt 202, 39

Mends Street, South Perth, WA 6151

Australia °

HE20194F12 H31 HIEEEMEES
WS R B AR R 2 H W1 £ 20204F4
A17 B PR T8 -

ARNFR2019F12 31 H M &%
H m@rﬁﬂﬁ%é%ﬁﬁ&%@*‘w NG|

Lo LTS 2 ) (A 2y [ 5 T ) B
TS ) o At A R A

E B B B R SERS S R ER -

ARy T HL I O F AT A M 42

R - A IS LA LA R AL 10

?%\’Aﬁ?kﬁ*ﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ s wEEHG
i} :

incorporation/

Nominal value of

Percentage of

registration and issued ordinary equity attributable
Name place of operations share capital to the Company Principal activities
ML .
HET B R BRAYE O 7 )
L EEBE RANEE RAEDH FREH
Dragon Mining Investments ~ Australia - 100% Dormant
Pty Ltd 18 December 2008 W S
TR
2008512 18H
Dragon Mining Sweden SEK 100,000 100% Gold Production
(Sweden) AB 27 April 1993 100,000 4 5. [ HEERE
i
1993441270
Viking Gold & Sweden SEK 100,000 100% Dormant
Prospecting AB 3 April 1996 100,000 4 52 RS
i 4l
1996474113 H
Dragon Mining Oy Finland EUR 100,000 100% Gold Production
24 March 1993 100,0008k G WA
J5 i
19934E3 24 H
HEE IR RAH Hong Kong HK$1.00 100% Dormant
(Dragon Mining Limited?) 17 May 2017 1.00% 7T AT
FEEIA A il
(Dragon Mining Limited?) ~ 20174£5H17H

#  For translation purposes.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
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%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

b)

Basis of Preparation

Statement of compliance

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019 are general purpose
financial statements prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards and Interpretations
issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

All IFRSs effective for the accounting period
commencing 1 January 2019 have been adopted by
the Group and, except as noted below, accounting
policies have been consistently applied throughout
all periods presented. The adoption of the new and
revised standards and interpretations effective 1
January 2019 had no material impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group. The Group’s
accounting policies have been updated to reflect
the new standards where applicable. Refer to note
1(bb) for disclosure on the implementation of IFRS
16 Leases (“IFRS 16”) and IFRIC Interpretation 23
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (“IFRIC 23”).

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for certain financial instruments which are
measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Australian dollars (“AUD”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise specified.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

fiE

%

oA R

A

RO BB AR B RE (48
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E
ARERRTESTERBME(HE)

1.

b)

G HIEE

HMZE20194E12 A3 H IEFEEN S
FVR 265 i 3% T e 1 IR R S R 4 v )
(AR EeF R ZE e
(TEesreEdlZ 8 e ) B rg
728 AR ) R P A S S R )~ R P
IR R R R ) R A R N w G ) B
FHUE IR o L MR S
WA 5 5 BT A R ) 35 L i R )
B30 P B ER A6 o

AEEC RN 20194E1 A1 HBRLR
B I A A T A I R B
MERI (B R SCRTal E4h) > &FtEok e
TSR T B N B R - IR
AR 20194E1 A1 H AR B sT M &8
BT e I R e R A A 18 1) A R UL
BB M KA o AR A E T
B3 B HE 70 7 O BT DA W T Y
HII o A BB e I B A s 3 5 YR ISR 1 6
A B (T B0 BRI s A5 RIS 1 6558 )
Ko B R R R R B e AR 23
SR 7S B S P TR (T 1 R A
ERBEEEE239E ) SRR
FH2 B EE1(bb)

A5 TS i R (T JRR S A O
B MERT T B A E R R A R
B o 2B IR LMoL ([T ) 2
5> HERIE DA - 7 R A e
PR A B AT T -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(Y]

Basis of Consolidation

Control is achieved when the Company is exposed,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee.

Specifically, the Company controls an investee if and
only if the Company has:

e power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that
give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee);

e exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e the ability to use its power over the investee to
affect its returns.

When the Company has less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights in an investee, the Company
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

e the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

e rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

e the Company’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The Company re-assesses whether it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when
the Company obtains control over the subsidiary
and ceases when the Company loses control of the
subsidiary.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

C)

Basis of Consolidation (Cont’d)

The income, expenses, assets and liabilities of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the Company’s Consolidated Statement
of Profit or Loss or the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position from the date the Company gains
control until the date the Company ceases to have
control.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Company’s
accounting policies. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the
Company are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Company loses control of a subsidiary, the
Company:

e derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary;

e derecognises the carrying amount of any non-
controlling interest;

e derecognises the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity;

* recognises the fair value of any investment
retained;

e recognises the fair value of the consideration
received;

e recognises any surplus or deficit in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss; and

e reclassifies the Company’s share of items
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or
Loss or retained earnings as appropriate.

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less
impairment in the Company’s Consolidated Statement
of Financial Position.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

d

e)

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer. The Group
recognises revenue from the sale of gold bullion
and concentrate when control of the product has
transferred to the customer.

Concentrate sales

Concentrate is sold to a third-party through a standard
Incoterm Delivery-At-Place (“DAP”) agreement. Once
the concentrate has been delivered the Group has
met its performance obligations and control passes.
Revenue is recognised based on the estimated final
settlement price and is determined with reference
to the forward gold price. Adjustments are made for
variations in assay and weight between delivery and
final settlement. The final settlement price received
is based on the monthly average London Metal
Exchange (LME) gold price for the month following
delivery. Adjustments relating to quotational period
pricing are recognised and measured in accordance
with the policy at note 1(h).

Bullion sales

Bullion is sold on the market through the Group’s
metal account. The only performance obligation
under the contract is the sale of gold bullion. Revenue
from bullion sales is recognised at a point in time
when control passes to the buyer. This generally
occurs when the Group instructs the refiner to
transfer the gold to the customer by crediting the
metal account of the customer. As all performance
obligations are satisfied at that time, there are
no remaining performance obligations under the
contract. The transaction price is determined at
transaction date and there are no further adjustments
to this price.

Income Taxes

The income tax expense or benefit for the period
is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the national income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted for changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to the temporary differences
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the Consolidated Financial
Statements and for unused tax losses.

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary
differences at the reporting date between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

e)

Income Taxes (Cont’d)
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all
taxable temporary differences:

except where the deferred income tax liability
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and at the time of the transaction
affects neither the accounting or taxable profit or
loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in associates, except where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of
unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to the extent
it is probable that a taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences
and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused
tax losses can be utilised:

except where the deferred income tax asset
relating to the deductible temporary differences
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting nor taxable profit
or loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in associates, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

e)

Income Taxes (Cont’d)

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets
is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are
reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that future
taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be
recovered. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities
are measured at the tax rates that are expected to
apply to the year when the asset is realised, or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same
taxable entity and the same taxable authority.

Tax consolidation legislation

The Company implemented the Australian tax
consolidation legislation as of 1 July 2003. The
Company has applied the group allocation approach
in determining the appropriate amount of current
taxes and deferred taxes to allocate to members of the
tax consolidated group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

f)

g

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of
the amount of GST except:

e where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods
and services is not recoverable from the tax
authority; and

e receivables and payables are stated with the
amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable
to, the tax authority is included as part of receivables
or payables in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position.

Cash flows are included in the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the
GST component of cash flows arising from investing
and financing activities, which is recoverable from or
payable to the tax authority, classified as operating
cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of
the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to,
the tax authority.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances
Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of each Company is
measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which that entity operates. The
Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in
Australian dollars which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency.

Transaction and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year end
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value is
determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of
non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on the
change in fair value of the item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

g

Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances (Cont’d)
Group Companies

The results and financial position of all the
subsidiaries of the Company (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency
as follows:

e assets and liabilities are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that reporting date;

e income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the rates prevailing on the
transaction date, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

e all resulting exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any monetary items that form part
of the net investment in a foreign entity are taken to
Shareholders” Equity. When a foreign operation is
sold, or borrowings are repaid the proportionate share
of such exchange differences are recognised in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate at the reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

h)

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade receivables are initially recognised at their
transaction price and other receivables at fair value.
Receivables that are held to collect contractual cash
flows and are expected to give rise to cash flows
representing solely payments of principal and interest
are classified and subsequently measured at amortised
cost. Receivables that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost are measured at fair value through
profit or loss. This category includes trade receivables
relating to concentrate sales that are subject to
quotation period pricing.

The terms of the concentrate sales contract contain
provisional pricing arrangements. Adjustments to the
sales price are based on movements in metal prices
up to the date of final pricing. Final settlement is
based on the monthly average LME gold price for the
month following delivery (the “quotational period”).
Movements in the fair value of the concentrate
debtors are recognised in other revenue.

The group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit loss associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The amount of
expected credit losses is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument. The
Group always recognises the lifetime expected credit
loss for trade receivables carried at amortised cost.
The expected credit losses on these financial assets
are estimated based on the Group’s historic credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as forecast
conditions at the reporting date.

For all other receivables measured at amortised cost,
the Group recognised lifetime expected credit losses
when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. If on the other hand
the credit risk on the financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to expected credit
losses within the next 12 months.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

fiE

%

oA R

A

22 N\
A

S 25 e i ()

HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E
ARERRTESTERBME(HE)

1.

h)

B35 R EMBEYWRE

B o) MEWGRIB ) A2 12 52 5 (B AR e T
FAbRESCRIRE 2> FofE I ERE o Rk
HIEB ARG ORERE
TR A B4 U B (B S A 00
Lo FLAR A 0 B IS R 1) A < e )
BL) o ANAEE S A HE JU) Y JRE SRR
TEME i 458 SURERHR o A RIS
/B 375 BELAG - 5 30 7 {6 P S T 5 A
I6# 14 52 5 B WA

s B 5 5 5 40 e i RCA Bl I S fE %2
P o SHE R IR IR A B RAGE
15 VIR 2 8 fEAR SR B TN © FRACAS
IR E A (TR ) A4
HAF#ILMES S EASTE © KB Ik
FRIE 2 o f e 5 ) % ffe 53 2 oAtk
ﬁo

8 T 1 U 5 4l 2 8 6 A5 B
15 T EAR B A5 Sl 18 - 70
15 S 1R R A5 3t H W BERT DL
i 9 4% T < T B A0 A e R LASR 9 15
R\ B A B o AR5 I AL PR AR 1L 1
S A B 1) B oy R WSO T 11 4 A 7
WS B 1R o B2 5 B TR
e 18 AR A 2 R S 5 4500 R T A
Ao 7 BB AR T L R R AR R ER I
FEE R R DL R ey 2 B Ry 7
BIGRDLB PG T 2

ST A R Y P A A R
I > AR B )46 e AR AL 4
[CONEEpI RS IR R IR
18 o Qs —JriE > e TR AR iR
AR 5 5 Ml P10 SR g o - HJAS
A BRARSE AR AR 218 H T 6
R B R B S A TR e R -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

h)

)

Trade and Other Receivables (Cont’d)

The Group considers an event of default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
or external sources indicate that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group. A financial
asset is credit impaired when there is evidence that
the counterparty is in significant financial difficulty
or a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event has occurred. The Group writes off a financial
asset when there is information indicating the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery.

Inventories

Finished goods, gold concentrate, gold in circuit
and stockpiles of unprocessed ore have been valued
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
comprises direct materials, direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead
expenditure.

Costs are assigned to stockpiles and gold in circuit
inventories based on weighted average cost. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion and the cost to sell. Consumables have
been valued at cost less an appropriate provision for
obsolescence. Cost is determined on a first-in-first-out
basis.

Deferred Waste

As part of open-pit mining operations, the Group
incurs stripping (waste removal) costs during the
development and production phase of its operations.

When development stripping costs are incurred
expenditure is capitalised as part of the cost of
constructing the mine and subsequently amortised
over its useful life using a unit of production
(“UOP”) method. The capitalisation of development
stripping costs ceases when the mine/component
is commissioned and ready for use as intended by
management.

Stripping costs incurred in the production phase
create two benefits:

e the production of inventory; or

e improved access to future ore.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

)

k)

Deferred Waste (Cont’d)

Where the benefits are realised in the form of
inventories produced in the period, production
stripping costs are accounted for as part of the
cost of producing those inventories. Where
production stripping costs are incurred, and the
benefit is improved access to future ore, the costs
are recognised as a stripping activity asset in mine
properties.

If the costs of the inventories produced and the
stripping asset are not separately identifiable an
allocation is undertaken based on the waste to ore
stripping ratio (for the ore component concerned).
If mining of waste in a period occurs more than the
expected stripping ratio, the excess is recognised as
part of the stripping asset. Where mining occurs at or
below the expected life of component stripping ratio
in a period, the entire production stripping cost is
allocated to the cost of the ore inventories produced.

Amortisation is provided using a UOP method over
the life of the identified component of orebody.
The UOP method results in an amortisation charge
proportional to the depletion of the economically
recoverable mineral resources (comprising proven
and probable reserves) component.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Mine Properties: areas in production

Areas in production represent the accumulation of all
acquired exploration, evaluation and development
expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the Group
in relation to an area of interest in which mines
are being prepared for production or the economic
mining of a mineral reserve has commenced.

When further development expenditure, including
waste development, is incurred in respect of a mine
property after the commencement of production,
such expenditure is carried forward to the extent that
a future economic benefit is established, otherwise
such expenditure is classified as part of the cost of
production. Amortisation of costs is provided using a
UOP method (with separate calculations being made
for each mineral resource).

The UOP method results in an amortisation charge
proportional to the depletion of the economically
recoverable mineral reserves.

The costs are carried forward to the extent that
these costs are expected to be recouped through the
successful exploitation of the Group’s mining leases.
The net carrying value of each mine property is
reviewed regularly and, to the extent that its carrying
value exceeds its recoverable amount, the excess is
fully provided against in the financial year in which it
is determined.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

k)

Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont’d)

Plant and equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried
at cost less, where applicable, any accumulated
depreciation and impairment.

The cost of an item of plant and equipment comprises:

e its purchase price, including import duties and
non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting
trade discounts and rebates;

e any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management; and

e the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling
and removing the item and restoring the site on
which it is located.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on
all items of property, plant and equipment other
than mining plant and equipment and land. The
depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable
assets are:

5-50%
4-33%

Other plant and equipment
Buildings

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and
amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each financial year end.

Impairment

The carrying values of mine properties, plant and
equipment are reviewed for impairment when events
or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
value may not be recoverable. Refer to note 1(n).

Disposal
An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no further
future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal.

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or
Loss in the year the asset is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

)

Mineral Exploration and Evaluation Costs
Exploration expenditure is expensed to the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss as and when
it is incurred and included as part of cash flows from
operating activities in the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows. Exploration costs are only capitalised to
the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position if
they result from an acquisition.

Evaluation expenditure is capitalised to the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
Evaluation is deemed to be activities undertaken
from the beginning of the definitive feasibility study
conducted to assess the technical and commercial
viability of extracting a mineral resource before
moving into the development phase.

The criteria for carrying forward costs are:

e such costs are expected to be recouped through
successful development and exploitation of the
area of interest, or alternatively by its sale; or

e exploration and/or evaluation activities in the
area of interest have not yet reached a state
which permits a reasonable assessment of
the existence or otherwise of economically
recoverable reserves and active and significant
operations in or in relation to the area are
continuing.

Costs carried forward in respect of an area of interest
which is abandoned are written off in the year in
which the abandonment decision is made.

Farm Out arrangements

In respect of Farm Outs, the Company does not record
any expenditure made by the Farmee on its account.
Where there is capitalised exploration expenditure
it also does not recognise any gain or loss on its
exploration and evaluation Farm Out arrangements
but redesignates any costs previously capitalised in
relation to the whole interest as relating to the partial
interest retained. Cash received from the Farmee is
treated as a reimbursement of expenditure incurred
(where expenditure is capitalised) or gains on disposal
if there is no capitalised expenditure.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

m) Cash and Cash Equivalents

n)

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities
normally of three months or less, and bank overdrafts
excluding any restricted cash. Restricted cash is not
available for use by the Company and is therefore not
considered highly liquid (i.e. rehabilitation bonds).

For the purposes of the Consolidated Statement of
Cashflows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and cash equivalents as defined above net of
outstanding bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are
included within interest-bearing loans and borrowings
in current liabilities on the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position.

Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial
assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets,
are reviewed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the
carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses are recognised in the Consolidated Statement
of Profit or Loss. A cash-generating unit is the smallest
identifiable asset group that generates cash flows
that are largely independent from other assets and
groups. Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units
and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are
assessed at each reporting date for any indications
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change
in estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

0)

P

Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised
cost due to their short-term nature and they are not
discounted. They represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the
Group becomes obliged to make future payments in
respect of the purchase of these goods and services.
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid
within 30 days of recognition.

Payables to related parties are carried at the principal
amount. Interest, when charged by the lender, is
recognised as an expense on an accrual’s basis.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) because of a
past event; it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all the provision
to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance
contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision
is presented in the Consolidated Statement of Profit
or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income net of any
reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material,
provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to
the liability.

Where discounting is used, the increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as
a finance cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(v)]

r)

Interest Bearing Liabilities

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised
at fair value net of issue costs associated with the
borrowing.

After initial recognition, interest bearing liabilities
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method. Amortised cost
is calculated considering any issue costs, and any
discount or premium on settlement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the Consolidated
Statements of Profit or Loss when the liabilities are
derecognised, as well as through the amortisation
process.

Employee Benefits

Wages, salaries and other short-term benefits

The liability for wages, salaries and other short-term
benefits is recognised at the present value of expected
future payments.

Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in
the provision for employee benefits and measured as
the present value of expected future payments to be
made in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to
expected future wage and salary levels, experience of
employee departures and periods of service. Expected
future payments are discounted using market yields at
the reporting date on high quality corporate bonds or
national government bonds as appropriate with terms
to maturity and currency that match, as closely as
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Superannuation

Contributions made by the Group to employee
superannuation funds, defined contribution plans,
are charged to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or
Loss in the period employees’ services are provided.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

s)

b

Restoration and Rehabilitation Costs

The Group records the present value of the estimated
cost of legal and constructive obligations to restore
operating locations in the period in which the
obligation is incurred. The nature of restoration
activities includes dismantling and removing
structures, rehabilitating mines, dismantling operating
facilities, closure of plant and waste sites, and
restoration, reclamation and revegetation of affected
areas.

An obligation arises when the asset is installed
at the production location. When the liability is
initially recorded, the estimated cost is capitalised by
increasing the carrying amount of the related mining
assets. Over time, the liability is increased for the
change in the present value based on the discount
rates that reflect the current market assessments
and the risks specific to the liability. Additional
disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs
will be recognised as additions or changes to the
corresponding asset and rehabilitation liability when
incurred.

The unwinding of the effect of discounting on
the provision is recorded as a finance cost in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss. The carrying
amount capitalised is depreciated over the life of the
related asset.

Earnings Per Share

Basic Earnings Per Share (“EPS”) is calculated as net
profit attributable to members of the parent divided
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares,
adjusted for any bonus element.

Diluted EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to
members of the parent, adjusted for:

e costs of servicing equity (other than dividends);

e the after-tax effect of dividends and interest
associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares
that have been recognised as expenses; and

e other non-discretionary changes in revenues or
expenses during the period that would result
from the dilution of potential ordinary shares.

The result is then divided by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential
ordinary shares adjusted for any bonus element.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

u)

V)

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised
as part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they occur.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds. The rate used to determine the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation was 3.9%
(2018: 4.0%), which is the effective interest of the
specific borrowing.

Segment Reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group
that engages in business activities from which it may
earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues
and expenses relating to transactions with other
components of the same entity). Operating segments
results are regularly reviewed by the Company’s
chief operating decision makers and are used to
make decisions about the allocation of resources
and to assess performance using discrete financial
information. This includes start-up operations which
are yet to earn revenues. Management will also
consider other factors in determining operating
segments such as the existence of a line manager and
the level of segment information presented to the
Board of Directors.

Operating segments have been identified based on the
information provided to the chief operating decision
makers, being the executive management team.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

V)

w)

Segment Reporting (Cont’d)

The Company aggregates two or more operating
segments when they have similar economic
characteristics, and the segments are similar in each
of the following respects:

e geographical location;

e national regulatory environment;

e nature of the products and services; and
e nature of the production processes.

Operating segments that do not meet the quantitative
criteria as prescribed by IFRS 8 Operating Segments
are reported separately. An operating segment that
does not meet the quantitative criteria is still reported
separately where information about the segment
would be useful to users of the financial statements.

Information about other business activities and
operating segments that are below the quantitative
criteria are combined and disclosed in a separate
category for “all other segments”.

Contributed Equity
Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair
value of the consideration received by the Company.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

X)

Fair Value

The Group measures financial instruments, such as
derivatives, at fair value at each reporting date. Fair
values of financial instruments measured at amortised
cost are disclosed in note 24.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

e in the principal market for the asset or liability;
or

e in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must
be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability, if market
participants act in their economic best interest.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

e Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities

e Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable

e level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

X)

y)

Fair Value (Cont’d)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements at fair value on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Significant Accounting Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Concentrate sales

With respect to concentrate sales, a receivable is
recognised when the concentrate is delivered to the
customer’s facility as this is the point in time that the
risks and rewards of ownership are transferred, and
the Group’s performance obligations have been met
in accordance with the sales agreements. Adjustments
are made for variations in assay and weight between
the time of dispatch of the concentrate and time of
final settlement. The Group estimates the amount of
consideration receivable using the expected value
approach based on internal assays. Management
consider that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur due to a variation in assay
and weight.

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal
and termination options

The Group determines the lease term as the non-
cancellable term of the lease, together with any
periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it
is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods
covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is
reasonably certain not to be exercised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

y)

Significant Accounting Judgements (Cont’d)
Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal
and termination options (Cont’d)

The Group has lease contracts that include extension
and termination options. The Group applies
judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably
certain whether or not to exercise the option to
renew or terminate the lease. That is, it considers all
relevant factors that create an economic incentive for
it to exercise either the renewal or termination. After
the commencement date, the Group reassesses the
lease term if there is a significant event or change in
circumstances that is within its control and affects
its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to
renew or to terminate (e.g. construction of significant
leasehold improvements or significant customisation
to the leased asset).

The Group did not include the renewal period as part
of the lease term of property. The periods covered
by termination options are included as part of the
lease term only when they are reasonably certain not
to be exercised. Refer to note 1(bb) for information
on potential future rental payments relating to
periods following the exercise date of extension and
termination options that are not included in the lease
term.

Production start date

The Group assesses the stage of each mine under
development/construction to determine when a mine
transitions into the production phase, this being when
the mine is substantially complete and ready for its
intended use.

The criteria used to assess the start date are
determined based on the unique nature of each
mine development/construction project, such as the
complexity of the project and its location. Some of
the criteria used to identify the production start date
include, but are not limited to:

e level of capital expenditure incurred compared
with the original construction cost estimate;

e completion of a reasonable period of testing of
the mine plant and equipment;

e ability to produce metal in saleable form (within
specifications); and

e ability to sustain ongoing production of metal.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

i

%

BOA R

2 A

R BB AR B RE (48
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E
ARERRTESTERME(E)

1.

y)

EXSEHE (&)

JEE AT R SR E R A U AR Y
ARIH ()

ASE A A T BAT R B 4 1 iR
WIS AT o« AL T &
PR AT o AR A L1 AR B 10 I3 R
3 OB P > DA S o 25 A T ok AL
Bl 11 IS FREAE BT A AL o IR B BT AT
HBF R o R B A H R - e Ae
HH LA ) 14 TR R s DL (L R T
SCBHAT B (BT (8) AR i 11 738
FEHE (9] ek R AL B 6 45 v e oA
B AR EE R E AL BRE ST 5 RilA
S B AGALA -

A Sl S AL I A W SRR
(o) o M H 1L ISR RN 5 B e
TEANEATHR > AR BEHER 2E )
77 G Rt AR — &0 - ARER
Lo 1B RERY AT 6 H AR A 03 ]
(CRFEAFEIA A ) (4T AE R AR 3 0E
0K - w52 BIMEEE1 (bb) ©

P45 E H A

G A 25118 BRI B R B
YRR I B > DU RE BRI (T Rp A A
FERRBE » 2y 3 R B T AT A BE
E ] o

FTA Al B 4 39 4 B 0 R AR 451
555 BR % T ) e T
E > NI AR R S A
JFH LA A B i A 2 IR TR YRR
TEAEANER A -

o BRJSUSEHE TRA RIS EL > Py
JEE LR ) AR S K

o WEGRRIE ek fsi T A& H
I

o HEM AR S AT G RIS HYIE K
LESE K

o REMITHEAESNE o

157



158

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

y)

7)

Significant Accounting Judgements (Cont’d)
Production start date (Cont’d)

When a mine development project moves into the
production phase, the capitalisation of certain mine
development costs ceases and costs are either regarded
as forming part of the cost of inventory or expensed,
except for costs that qualify for capitalisation relating
to mining asset additions or improvements. It is also at
this point that depreciation/amortisation commences.

The Group determined the production start date for
the Kaapelinkulma Gold Mine as 8 April 2019 and 24
June 2019 for the Faboliden Gold Mine, these being
the dates when the mining of ore commenced.

Significant Accounting Estimates and Assumptions
The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities
are often determined based on estimates and
assumptions of future events. The key estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain
assets and liabilities within the next reporting period
are:

Determination of mineral resources and ore reserves
The determination of reserves impacts the
accounting for asset carrying values, depreciation
and amortisation rates, deferred stripping costs and
provisions for decommissioning and restoration. The
ore reserves, mineral resources or mineralisation are
reported in accordance with the Aus.IMM “Australian
Code for reporting of Identified Mineral Resources
and Ore Reserves” (“the Code”).

The information has been prepared by or under
supervision of competent persons as identified by the
Code. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in
estimating mineral resources and ore reserves and
assumptions that are valid at the time of estimation
may change significantly when new information
becomes available. Changes in the forecast prices
of commodities, exchange rates, production costs or
recovery rates may change the economic status of
reserves and may, ultimately, result in the reserves
being restated. As at 31 December 2019, the Group
had an increase in its Resources and Reserves.
Changes in reported Reserves and Resources estimates
can impact the carrying value of property, plant and
equipment through depreciation, provisions for mine
rehabilitation, restoration and dismantling obligations,
the recognition of deferred tax assets, as well as the
amount of depreciation and amortisation charged to
the statement of comprehensive income. However,
quantification of the future impact is not considered
practicable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

7)

Significant Accounting Estimates and Assumptions
(Cont'd)

Mine rehabilitation provisions

The Group assesses its mine rehabilitation provision
half-yearly in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in note 1(s). Significant judgement is required
in determining the provision for mine rehabilitation as
there are many transactions and other factors that will
affect the ultimate liability payable to rehabilitate the
mine site.

The ultimate rehabilitation costs are uncertain,
and cost estimates can vary in response to many
factors, including estimates of the extent and costs
of rehabilitation activities, technological changes,
regulatory changes, cost increases as compared to the
inflation rates and changes in discount rates. These
uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure
differing from the amounts currently provided.
Therefore, significant estimates and assumptions
are made in determining the provision for mine
rehabilitation. As a result, there could be significant
adjustments to the provisions established which
would affect future financial result. The provision at
reporting date represents the Group’s best estimate
of the present value of the future rehabilitation costs
required. The restoration activities in relation to
Svartilden and Orivesi are expected to commence
in 2022, once all necessary approvals have been
obtained.

Contingent liabilities

The Group assesses all open legal matters at each
reporting date to determine whether a provision
should be recognised or contingent liability disclosed.

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that
arise from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only on the occurrence or non-occurrence
of uncertain future events outside the Group’s control,
or present obligations that arise from past events but
are not recognised because:

(@) it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation;
or

(b) the amount cannot be measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are
disclosed, unless the possibility of an outflow is
remote. The Group has disclosed the contingent
liabilities identified at year end in note 22.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

7)

Significant Accounting Estimates and Assumptions
(Cont’d)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
Where the Group cannot readily determine
the interest rate implicit in the lease, it uses its
incremental borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease
liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment. The
IBR therefore reflects what the Group ‘would have to
pay’, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not
enter into financing transactions) or when they need
to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions
of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as
market interest rates) when available and is required
to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Impairment of non-financial assets

In accordance with accounting policy note 1(n)
the Consolidated Entity, in determining whether
the recoverable amount of its cash-generating units
is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal or
value-in-use against which asset impairment is to be
considered, undertakes future cash flow calculations
which are based on a number of critical estimates
and assumptions including, for its mine properties,
forward estimates of:

e mine life, including quantities of mineral reserves
and resources for which there is a high degree
of confidence of economic extraction with given
technology;

e production levels and demand;

*  metal price;

e inflation;

e cash costs of production;

e discount rates applicable to the cash-generating
unit; and

e future legal changes and/or environmental
permits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

7)

Significant Accounting Estimates and Assumptions
(Cont'd)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Cont’d)
Impairment is recognised when the carrying amount
of the cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount for each cash-
generating unit has been determined using the fair
value less cost of disposal approach, classified as
level 3 on the fair value hierarchy. Any variation in
the assumptions used to determine fair value less cost
of disposal would result in a change to the assessed
recoverable value. If the variation in assumption had
a negative impact on recoverable value, it could
indicate a requirement for impairment of non-current
assets.

Refer to note 7 for further discussion of the current
year impairment trigger assessment.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Australia,
Sweden and Finland. The Group’s accounting policy
for taxation stated in note 1(e) requires management’s
judgement as to the types of arrangements considered
to be a tax on income in contrast to an operating
cost. Judgement is also required in assessing whether
deferred tax assets and certain deferred tax liabilities
are recognised on the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position.

Deferred tax assets, including those arising from un-
recouped tax losses, capital losses and temporary
differences, are recognised only where it is considered
more likely than not that they will be recovered,
which is dependent on the generation of sufficient
future taxable profits. Deferred tax liabilities arising
from temporary differences in investments, caused
principally by retained earnings held in foreign tax
jurisdictions, are recognised unless the repatriation
of retained earnings can be controlled and are not
expected to occur in the foreseeable future.

Assumptions about the generation of future taxable
profits and repatriation of retained earnings depend on
management’s estimates of future cash flows. These
depend on estimates of future production and sales
volumes, operating costs, restoration costs, capital
expenditure, dividends and other capital management
transactions. Judgements are also required about the
application of income tax legislation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

aa) Accounting Standards and Interpretations Issued but

Not Yet Effective

The following accounting standards and
interpretations have been issued or amended but
are not yet effective. These standards have not been
adopted by the Group for the period ended 31
December 2019 and are outlined below:

Definition of Material — Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS
8 (effective 1 January 2020)

In October 2018, the IASB issued amendments to 1AS
1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 to
align the definition of ‘material’ across the standards
and to clarify certain aspects of the definition. The
new definition states that, ‘Information is material if
omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements, which provide
financial information about a specific reporting
entity.’

The amendments clarify that materiality will depend
on the nature or magnitude of information, or both.
An entity will need to assess whether the information,
either individually or in combination with other
information, is material in the context of the financial
statements. The Group has considered the impact on
its Consolidated Financial Statements and assessed
that the effect of the new framework will be minimal.

Definition of a Business — Amendments to IFRS 3
(effective 1 January 2020)

The amendments clarify that to be considered a
business, an integrated set of activities and assets must
include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create output. They also clarify that a
business can exist without including all of the inputs
and processes needed to create outputs. That is, the
inputs and processes applied to those inputs must
have ‘the ability to contribute to the creation of
outputs’ rather than ‘the ability to create outputs. The
Group has considered the impact on its Consolidated
Financial Statements and assessed that the effect of
the new framework will be minimal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

aa) Accounting Standards and Interpretations Issued but

Not Yet Effective (Cont’d)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
(effective 1 January 2020)

The revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting (the Conceptual Framework) is not a
standard, and none of the concepts override those
in any standard or any requirements in a standard.
The purpose of the Conceptual Framework is to assist
the Board in developing standards, to help preparers
develop consistent accounting policies if there is
no applicable standard in place and to assist all
parties to understand and interpret the standards. The
Group has considered the impact on its Consolidated
Financial Statements and assessed that the effect of
the new framework will be minimal.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 — Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture (effective 1 January 2022)

The amendments clarify that a full gain or loss is
recognised when a transfer to an associate or joint
venture involves a business as defined in IFRS 3
Business Combinations. Any gain or loss resulting
from the sale or contribution of assets that does not
constitute a business, however, is recognised only to
the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in associate
or joint venture. The Group has considered the impact
on its Consolidated Financial Statements and assessed
that the effect of the new standard will be minimal.

IFRS 17 — Insurance contracts (effective 1 January
2021)

This standard replaces IFRS 4, which currently permits
a wide variety of practices in accounting for insurance
contracts. IFRS 17 will fundamentally change the
accounting by all entities that issue insurance
contracts and investment contracts with discretionary
participation features. This standard is not applicable
to the Company as it is not an insurance company.

There are no other standards that are not yet effective
and that would be expected to have a material impact
on the entity in the current or future reporting periods
and on foreseeable future transactions.

IAS 1 current and non-current classification

On 23 January 2020, the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB or the Board) issued
amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements (the amendments)
to specify the requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current.

The Group has considered the impact on its
Consolidated Financial Statements and assessed that
the effect of the new standard will be minimal.
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164 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

bb) Changes in Accounting Policies on Adoption of

New and Amended Accounting Standards and
Interpretations

This note explains the impact of the adoption
of new and amended accounting standards and
interpretations effective from 1 January 2019.

IFRS 16

IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases (“IAS 17”), IFRIC
4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-
27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving
the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out
the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires
lessees, with limited exception, to account for leases
under a single on-balance sheet model.

Prior to the adoption of IFRS 16, the Group classified
each of its leases (as lessee) at the inception date
as either a finance lease or an operating lease. A
lease was classified as a finance lease if it transferred
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the leased asset to the Group; otherwise
it was classified as an operating lease. Finance leases
were capitalised at the commencement of the lease
at the inception date fair value of the leased property
or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease
payments. Lease payments were apportioned between
interest (recognised as finance costs) and reduction
of the lease liability. In an operating lease, the leased
property was not capitalised, and the lease payments
were recognised as rent expense in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group adopted IFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption with the date of
initial application of 1 January 2019. Comparatives
for the 2018 reporting period have not been restated
as permitted under the specific transition provisions
in the standard. In accordance with IFRS 16, at the
transition date, the Group assessed all contracts to
establish whether they contain a lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

bb) Changes in Accounting Policies on Adoption of

New and Amended Accounting Standards and
Interpretations (Cont’d)

Leases previously accounted for as operating leases
The Group has a lease contract for property with
lease term of 60 months. On transition, the Group
elected to use the practical expedient not to apply
the requirements of IFRS 16 to leases for which the
lease term ends within 12 months of the date of initial
application of the Standard.

As at 1 January 2019 all leases were assessed as
having a lease term of less than 12 months from
initial application. Under IFRS 16, lease payments on
short-term leases are also recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Leases previously classified as finance leases

The Group has lease contracts for plant and
equipment previously classified as finance leases. The
Group did not change the initial carrying amounts of
recognised assets and liabilities at the date of initial
application for leases previously classified as finance
leases (i.e. the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
equal the lease assets and liabilities recognised under
IAS 17). The requirements of IFRS 16 were applied on
these leases from 1 January 2019.

On adoption of IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019,
right-of-use assets of AU$43,000 were reclassified
from property, plant and equipment to right-of-use
assets on the balance sheet. The Group continues to
present lease liabilities within interest bearing loans
and borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF 1.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

bb) Changes in Accounting Policies on Adoption of
New and Amended Accounting Standards and

Interpretations (Cont’d)
Impact on application

The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019
can be reconciled to the operating lease
commitments disclosed as of
31 December 2018 as follows:

Operating lease commitments
as at 31 December 2018

Less

Commitments relating to short-term leases

Add

Commitments relating to lease previously
classified as finance lease

Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019

Depreciation expense for right-of-use asset
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Expense relating to leases of low value assets
(included in general and
administrative expenses)
Variable lease payments(included in cost
of sales)
Short term lease payments (included in general
and administrative expenses)

Total amount recognised in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Total cash flow
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

bb) Changes in Accounting Policies on Adoption of

New and Amended Accounting Standards and
Interpretations (Cont’d)
Policy applied from 1 January 2019 — Group as Lessee

The Group assesses each contract at inception to
determine whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.
That is, if the contract conveys the right to control
the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

(i)  Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except
for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities
to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(i) Right-of-use assets
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made
at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful
lives of the assets:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

bb) Changes in Accounting Policies on Adoption of New
and Amended Accounting Standards (Cont’d)
Policy applied from 1 January 2019 — Group as Lessee
(Cont’d)

(i)

(iii)

Right-of-use assets (Cont’d)
Property 5-50%
Plant and equipment 4-33%

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group at the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset. The right-of-use assets
are also subject to impairment. Refer to the
accounting policies in note 1(n).

The Group’s right-of-use assets are included in
note 9.

Short-term leases and leases of low value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of machinery and equipment (i.e. those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-
value assets recognition exemption to leases
of office equipment that are considered to be
low value. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

bb) Changes in Accounting Policies on Adoption of New
and Amended Accounting Standards (Cont'd)
Policy applied from 1 January 2019 — Group as Lessee
(Cont’d)

(iv)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the
Group recognises lease liabilities measured at
the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under
residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for terminating
the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are
incurred to produce inventories) in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
where the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased
to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made.

In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in the lease
payments (e.g., changes to future payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used
to determine such lease payments) or a change
in the assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in
interest-bearing liabilities in note 13.
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170 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

bb) Changes in Accounting Policies on Adoption of New

and Amended Accounting Standards (Cont’d)

Policy applied prior to 1 January 2019 — Group as
Lessee

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or
contains, a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement at the date of inception. The arrangement
is assessed to determine whether fulfilment is
dependent on the use of a specific asset (or assets)
and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset
(or assets), even if that asset is (or those assets) are not
explicitly specified in an arrangement. The Group is
not a lessor in any transactions, it is only a lessee.

(i)  Group as a lessee

Finance leases, which transfer substantially all
of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership
of the leased item to the Group, are capitalised
at the commencement of the lease at the fair
value of the leased property or, if lower, at the
present value of the minimum lease payments.
Lease payments are apportioned between
finance charges and reduction of the lease
liability to achieve a constant rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are recognised in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life
of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable
certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by
the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated
over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the
asset and the lease term.

Operating lease payments are recognised as
an operating expense in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

bb) Changes in Accounting Policies on Adoption of New

and Amended Accounting Standards (Cont’d)

IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatment

The Interpretation addresses the accounting for
income taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty
that affects the application of IAS 12 Income Taxes. It
does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of
IAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements
relating to interest and penalties associated with
uncertain tax treatments. The Interpretation
specifically addresses the following:

e whether an entity considers uncertain tax
treatments separately;

e the assumptions an entity makes about the
examination of tax treatments by taxation
authorities;

e how an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss),
tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits
and tax rates; and

e how an entity considers changes in facts and
circumstances.
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172 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

bb) Changes in Accounting Policies on Adoption of New

and Amended Accounting Standards (Cont’d)

IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatment (Cont’d)

An entity has to determine whether to consider each
uncertain tax treatment separately or together with
one or more other uncertain tax treatments. The
approach that better predicts the resolution of the
uncertainty needs to be followed.

The Group applies significant judgement in
identifying uncertainties over income tax treatments.
Since the Group operates in a complex multinational
environment, it assessed whether the Interpretation
had an impact on its consolidated financial
statements.

Upon adoption of the Interpretation, the Group
considered whether it had any uncertain tax positions,
particularly those relating to transfer pricing. The
Company’s and the subsidiaries’ tax filings in different
jurisdictions include deductions related to transfer
pricing and the taxation authorities may challenge
those tax treatments. The Group determined, based
on its tax compliance and transfer pricing study, that
it is probable that its tax treatments (including those
for the subsidiaries) will be accepted by the taxation
authorities. The interpretation did not have an impact
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

28

OTHER REVENUE, INCOME AND EXPENSES

a)

Cost of sales

Cost of production net of
inventory movements

Depreciation of mine properties,
plant and equipment

Rehabilitation costs'

Cost of production net of
inventory movements

Mining

Processing

Other production activities

Gold inventory movements

Cost of production net of inventory

movements

a)

R BB AR B RE (48
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2018
20184F
AU$'000
TFT

37,666

3,488

41,154

25,480
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1,370
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33,655

In December 2019, the Group submitted its mine closure plan for !
Orivesi to the Regional State Administrative Agency of Western and

Inland Finland, which included the recognition of an additional

AU$1.8 million rehabilitation expense through cost of sales.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

Ak B FA 2 e P ()

HAE2019F12 31 H L4

2. OTHER REVENUE, INCOME AND EXPENSES 2.
(CONT’D)

b)

(Y]

d)

e)

Other revenue
Finance revenue and interest
Rent and sundry income

Other income
Sale of property,

plant and equipment
Other

Other expenses

Depreciation of non-mine
site assets

Evaluation assets written off

Finance costs
Interest
Other

Total employee benefits including

Directors’ remuneration
Wages and salaries
Defined contribution

superannuation expense
Other employee benefits
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)
for the year ended 31 December 2019

3. INCOME TAX

(@ Income Tax Expense
The major components of
income tax expense are:
Current income tax
Current income tax expense
Adjustments in respect of current
income tax of previous year
Deferred income tax
Income tax benefit arising from
previously unrecognised tax loss
Relating to origination and
reversal of temporary differences

Income tax expense reported in
the statement of
comprehensive income

(b) Amounts charged or credited
directly to equity
Deferred income tax related to
items charged/(credited)
directly to equity

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
AR A R A A

Ao B BB A I (A

HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E

3. Fr

@ FEHAX

AR B SCHY
TS

BlIA P 1 8

RS BT 15 B 52

AU T AR 2 RV T 13 5
1 H R

AT 175

PRI 388 7 O ffe s Bl SR s 1R
7 AR B BT AR BL A 4

A Tl R 2 R G AR T
f3 1]

P 28 TH WA i 2% 52 R )
I A58 B 52

HEMBRARFA
ERNEHE

HLE TSR B (FEA)
Tt 976 H A BH
LA P13

2019 2018
20195 20184F
AU$’000 AU$'000
FET T
2,079 -
(2,079) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)  Z=4 BARSER M =8 (4)
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E

for the year ended 31 December 2019

3.

INCOME TAX (CONT’D)

3. FEH(E)

(¢) Numerical reconciliation between aggregate tax (c)
expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income and tax expense calculated per the statutory

income tax rate

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product
of accounting profit before income tax multiplied by the

Group's applicable income tax rate is as follows:

Accounting profit/(loss) before
income tax

At the Group’s statutory income tax
rate of 30% in Australia (2018: 30%)
Adjustments in respect of
current income tax of previous year
Effect of different rates of
tax on overseas income
Other
Previously unrecognised tax
losses utilised/recognised
Tax losses and other temporary
differences not recognised as
benefit not probable

Aggregate income tax expense

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

fiE

"W A R & A

T 28 THT W 2t 2 TR 0 1 0 T B Sz 4 B
3 E B A B B R RO B JH B SZHY
B R

ot TR ] S BB 00 i i A1) S A SR 1
T TR BB A 2 SRR BRI T

ST g RHE R (R

TR A WO 0935 2 P Bt

Bi#30% (20184F : 30%)
IR 1 A B BT AR R

R H
AN e NEIE RSN~
HoAs

B, HERE IR AT KRR BLIH
e

AR B TE e 48 B HA 7 ey
R (R AT e AL A 1)

Pt B SC R

2019 2018
20195 20184E
AU$’000 AU$’000
FET RV
6,311 (9,531)
1,893 (2,859)
(792) 623
(858) (3,353)
(2,079) -
1,836 5,589




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) e

for the year ended 31 December 2019

3.

INCOME TAX (CONT’D)

(d) Recognised deferred tax assets

and liabilities

Consolidated deferred income tax

at reporting date relates
to the following:
Deferred tax assets
(excluding tax losses)
Leave entitlements
Rehabilitation provision
Share issue and listing costs
Mine properties, property,
plant and equipment
Exploration costs
Accruals
Temporary differences not
recognised!
Set off deferred tax liabilities
pursuant to set off provisions

Deferred income tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities

Accelerated deduction

Mine properties, property,
plant and equipment

Set off deferred tax liabilities
pursuant to set off provisions

Deferred income tax liabilities

=

S 25 e i ()

HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E

3. Fr

d) CERELEHREE

kA&

TR BN 51 4T

) libEERE R 413
Priadi
BHEHIHEE
(Bl 18R A1)
IRABHER
R
Je Aoy 84T S b A

R ~ W13~ s

Bty
JET#2 1)
R TR A T IR 22 T

MRS a8
RSB A fi

BT T3P &

WEAE R JE B F

Sk

WY - W -
Y&

RS e S B
R B TE A

HESE P A Bl AL

The temporary differences not recognised include AU$0.1 million
in respect of FX movements and AU$2.4 million of adjustments in

respect of deferred tax of previous year.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

i

%

B oA R 2~ A

Bi(E)
2019 2018
20195 20184F
AU$’000 AU$'000
FET T
142 46
1,553 393
1,210 2,125
788 3,572
738 928
50 42
(4,353) (7,101)
(128) (5)
(128) (5)
128 5

ARERR I S 22 B LA AT B A S ) 19 0.1 77 8
AT M ) R AR AR S B IH I B A 2.4 1 B TROT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

3.

INCOME TAX (CONT’D)

(e) Tax Losses

®

Future benefits of tax losses total approximately
AUS$11.1 million (2018: AU$12.2 million). The
Consolidated Entity has available capital losses at a
tax rate of 30% amounting to AU$2.6 million (2018:
AU$2.6 million).

The benefits of the tax losses will only be obtained by
the companies in the Consolidated Entity if:

e they continue to comply with the provisions
of the Income Tax Legislation relating to the
deduction of losses of prior periods;

e they earn sufficient assessable income to enable
the benefits of the deductions to be realised; and

e there are no changes in Income Tax Legislation
adversely affecting the Company’s ability to
realise the benefits.

Tax consolidation

Effective 1 July 2003, for the purpose of income
taxation, Dragon Mining Limited and its 100%
Australian owned subsidiaries formed a Tax
Consolidation Group (“Tax Group”). Members of
the Tax Group have entered into a tax sharing and
funding arrangement whereby each entity in the Tax
Group has agreed to pay a tax equivalent amount
to or from the head entity, based on the current
tax liability or current tax asset of the entity. Such
amounts are reflected in amounts receivable from
or payable to other entities in the Tax Group. For
the year ended 31 December 2019, there are no tax
consolidation adjustments (2018: Nil). The nature of
the tax funding arrangement for the Tax Group is such
that no tax consolidation adjustments (contributions
by or distributions to equity participants) would be
expected to arise. The head entity of the Tax Group
is Dragon Mining Limited. In addition, the agreement
provides for the allocation of income tax liabilities
between the entities should the head entity default
on its tax payment obligations. At balance date, the
possibility of default is remote.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

fiE

%

oA R

A

22 N\
A

S 25 e i ()

HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E
8% (4])
(e) FIEEE

3.

)

FLIEE R R AR AL 111 H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)  Z=4 BARS M =8 (&)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 4. BHEeRBRESEEY
2019 2018
20195 20184F
AU$’000 AU$’000
FET THIT
Cash at bank and on hand AT K T 4 8,182 10,905
8,182 10,905
a) Reconciliation of net profit after tax to net cash flows a) BBEAERAECLSELNIESTR
from operations =2¥ER
2019 2018
2019 20184
AU$’000 AU$’000
TR T
Net profit/(loss) after tax BRBIMR i A (E518) 6,311 (9,531)
Adjustments for: LA IEE AR
Depreciation and amortisation P88 K dik 6,849 3,886
Capitalised interest on qualifying asset & &% & & 1 &AL FILE (146) -
Net foreign exchange gains SN 4 45 4 (108) (55)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: & ## & & [ A &5 ) -
— Increase in receivables — FECEKTE S (2,902) (966)
— (Decrease)/increase in other assets — HoAth 2 (i) B 360 271
— Increase in inventories —fE B (6,891) (604)
— Increase/(decrease) in trade creditors — — AT & 5 B X ERT 2
and accruals W () 1,881 (592)
— Increase/(decrease) in provisions — e ) 2,267 273)
Net operating cash flows KEE B B AR 7,621 (8,4006)

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

i

%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONT’D)

b)

Repayment of borrowings B
Lease liabilities HEAME
Repayment of lease liabilities fif A B A
Non-cash changes: B 5 H) -
Foreign exchange adjustments on
borrowings fE ARSI E 4 4
Balance at period end WIR &5 R
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables — fair value through & 5 R I —

profit or loss (i)
Trade receivables — amortised cost (ii)
Other receivables (iii)

(if)

(iii)

Reconciliation of liabilities from financing activities

Opening balance - 1 January

Cash flow: HAemE
Proceeds of borrowings gzt e

Trade receivables that relate to concentrate sales that
are subject to quotation period pricing are recognised
at fair value through profit or loss. Concentrate sales
are subject to the provisional pricing arrangements
disclosed in note 1(h). The Group issues a provisional
invoice at the end of the month following the month
of delivery which is payable within fifteen days. A
final invoice is issued by the Group within three days
of receiving final assays, typically two months post
delivery, which is payable by the purchaser within
five days of invoice receipt.

Includes trade receivables for gold sold on market and
settled within two days. The probability of default is
considered to be insignificant. All amounts have been
collected subsequent to year end.

Other receivables include bank guarantees held on
deposit with National Australia Bank for the lease of
the corporate premises. These deposits are rolled over
every three months in accordance with the lease terms.
Due to the short-term nature and credit rating of the
counterparty, the probability of default is insignificant.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

fiE

%

oA R

A

RO BB AR B RE (48
HAE2019F12 31 H L4
4. BERBLEEW(E)

MusEek—1H1H

R R4 e A RHEG)
B 5 BT ER TE — BB B (i)
HAth B W G

b) BMEIBEEHIR

2019 2018
20195 20184E
AU$’000 AU$’000
FET RV
4,000 -
2,000 9,000
- (5,000)

337 47
(30) (11)
293 249
6,600 4,285

5. EZREMEKRKIE

2019 2018
20195 20184E
AU$’000 AU$’000
FET ToC
3,786 749
495 2,094
1,668 1,147
5,949 3,990

(iii)

B S-S A5 00 7 A0 P00 A 1 45 L B 1)
S 5 MEWGKIA - 1203 S (E 4R 2 e
R o A W S B ZHU 3 B R 1 (h) P 4 B 1)
BRI E B 2 PEFTIR o ASE it 2 )
2% A% T R R BRI RS o PR
HETA 0 H A SRS o ARSE B IO
OB H RS EAESE  — 5
SEAAR W18 H T B WO SR AR T
ERAER e

R T S B EE S R W H N
TR 5 BEWCEK I - 32 4] e gl
BANE R B FUAE IME MR IR
B o

Al R WA R TE B A S A F W
1M 5 45 Ml 77 i i* National Australia
Bank I SRATIE (R o 3% S5 17 B 5 AL
BRI =AW A A —IK o B
HAVERL K 52 5 3 TF 7 B A5 BEREAR - &
AT REMENS AR o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)  Z=4 BARS M =8 (&) 181

for the year ended 31 December 2019 BWE2019F12 431 H IL4FE
5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT’D) 5. EZRHEMEBWNKEGE)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk and interest rate risk A8 9 TR 565 14 15 68 L e o R 25 JL i 7 B
are disclosed in note 24(d) and 24(e). 24(d) Fe24(e) P &7 ©
Ageing Analysis AR 2 AT
An aged analysis of the trade debtors as at the end of the TR IR > $R B R E A B R
reporting period, based on invoice date, is as follows: G W B BRI 3 AT an T
2019 2018
20194 20184
AU$’000 AU$’000
TR T
Amounts not yet invoiced i) R B HL SR 0 4 A 2,899 -
Within 1 month — A A A 1,382 2,843
1 to 2 months — Z Wi H - -
2 to 3 months WE = A - -
Over 3 months B =18 A - -
Trade debtors JEWCE 7 Bk 4,281 2,843
6. INVENTORIES 6. 7&
2019 2018
20194 20184
AU$’000 AU$'000
FET T¥o
Ore and concentrate stockpiles! B A A W S A7 9,875 4,509
Gold in circuit valued — at cost T A — AN (E 5,896 -
Gold in circuit valued — at NRV PR B A — ] R
i - 4,499
Raw materials and stores — at cost JEA Aok B fiti e — 4% AR 913 1,049
16,684 10,057
1 At 31 December 2019, all ore and concentrate stockpiles were ! 20194512 H31H > BR1,000MHFAF (1 Orivesifi f1 1%
valued at cost except for 1,000 tonnes of stockpiled Orivesi ore ]S I FE20,000 0 TCAG (B AL - B B A1 KK ik AT
which was valued at a net realisable value of AU$0.02 million. PR A E
DRAGON MINING LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)  Z=4 BARSER M =8 (4)
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E

for the year ended 31 December 2019

Ze

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land
Gross carrying amount — at cost

Buildings

Gross carrying amount — at cost

Less accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net carrying amount

Property, plant and equipment

Gross carrying amount — at cost

Less accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net carrying amount

Mine Properties

Gross carrying amount — at cost

Less accumulated amortisation and
impairment

Net carrying amount

Total property, plant and equipment

Gross carrying amount — at cost
Less accumulated amortisation and
impairment

Net carrying amount

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

fiE

"W A R & A

7. W% BERERE

T
2 A D R i A

BF

2 LA (LY R T A A
BAFHTE KBiE

MR A ¥

3~ BERRE

2 FAS T H(EL Y 3 T A8 M
AR KBIE
HRTHI FHE

L 2 2 S

2 FRLAS (L R T A
o A w B i (L

SR T

M - BERRERRE
FE A HEL Y AR T AR A
T T MR

SRR A ¥

2019 2018
20195 20184F
AU$’000 AU$'000
FE®T T¥oe
1,362 1,390
2,548 2,623
(2,052) (1,981)
496 642
34,231 33,474
(31,862) (31,405)
2,369 2,069
123,978 113,429
(94,858) (90,974)
29,120 22,455
162,119 150,916
(128,772) (124,360)
33,347 26,556




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)  Z=4 BARS M =8 (&)
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E

for the year ended 31 December 2019

7. PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D) 7e

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting

period:

Land
Carrying amount at beginning of period
Net foreign exchange movement

Carrying amount at end of period

Buildings

Carrying amount at beginning of period
Additions

Disposals

Depreciation

Net foreign exchange movement

Carrying amount at end of period

Property, plant and equipment
Carrying amount at beginning of period
Additions

Depreciation

Net foreign exchange movement

Carrying amount at end of period

Mine properties

Carrying amount at beginning of period
Additions

Capitalisation of borrowing costs
Reclassification from evaluation costs
Depreciation

Net foreign exchange movement

Carrying amount at end of period

Y3k~ BE R (&)

YR
s ) BRI 3E ~ R B e e T
B -

2019 2018
20195 20184
AU$’000 AU$’000
FBT RV
+ i
HAHT) 114 B 1 (L 1,390 1,334
AN S5 ) 1 A (28) 56
A A 174 B T (L 1,362 1,390
B3
940 114 B T (L 642 613
WNE - 98
HE (24) -
e (113) (102)
7| 5 ) o A 9) 33
HAR (1) AR T (B 496 642
ME - BMERRE
HAA) A B T (L 2,026 2,457
wE 1,605 719
res (1,102) (1,227)
71 REE 525 o)) ¥ R (160) 120
SUA B e L 2,369 2,069
TS
47 11 % T (B 22,455 14,940
R 9,100 3,596
& PONA ) E AL 146 -
A A FAL A ) T 4R 3,136 5,385
Preg (5,609) (2,231)
A HE 55 ) 1 A (108) 765
A 174 i T (L 29,120 22,455

The Group has considered whether any impairment triggers
exist at 31 December 2019 and have concluded that
no triggers are present in the current year. Management
have also considered whether an impairment reversal is
required and determined that no historical impairment
should be reversed. No impairment was recognised during
the 2018 and 2019 financial years. Included within Mine
Properties is AU$16.3 million relating to Faboliden. The
Company has a valid environmental test mining permit for
Faboliden and is in the progress of obtaining a full mining
permit which is expected to be finalised in the second half

of 2020.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
AR A R A A

ALEEE BN 20194E12 A31 H 2 BAF
TEAT ] A B WA ) 0 > ST e 8 AR A B NI
4 ) B A R (N A - SRR E
ST T R A 5 Sl N S A
FEREM) 0 2018 K% 2019 I B AE B 3 oK
PRI o FEATRSY N 163 I T
FabolidenH B o 4~/ F] 2 ¥ Faboliden#
BHAB Rl R IR o] 3% > 06 IE R
B PR R O] R > IR 20204F R AP AE
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184 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

8.

MINERAL EVALUATION AND DEVELOPMENT 8.

COSTS

Mineral exploration and evaluation costs

Balance at beginning of financial period S B ) 45 B

Additions wnE

Exploration write off VUEES e
Reclassification to mine properties HT O BRI
Net foreign exchange movement A ME 5 ) 45

Total mineral exploration and evaluation
expenditure

The recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration
and evaluation is dependent on the successful
development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively
through the sale of the respective area of interest.

RO BB AR B RE (48
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E

R B R T Tt B S AR

BEF G RBERAAR
BEBERFTERA
2019 2018
20195 20184F
AU$’000 AU$'000
FET T
5,333 5,562
6,808 5,298
- (326)
(3,136) (5,385)
(306) 184
8,699 5,333

FER T At ) SR 1 A 75 i (o] R PR E 15
IR B R SEBA SR o B0 AT A e
BH %2 Hhli [m] -

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 9. EREEE
2019 2018
2019 20184
AU$000 AU$’000
FHET THT
Gross carrying amount — at cost i A B B T A 344 -

Less accumulated depreciation and R TR K

impairment (24) -
Net carrying amount W T VR 320 -

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

fiE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)  Z=4 BARS M =8 (&)
BE2019F12 31 H 14 E

for the year ended 31 December 2019

9.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONT’D)

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of right-of-use asset
classes at the beginning and end of the reporting period:

Right-of-use assets — property

Carrying amount at beginning of period
Additions

Depreciation

Carrying amount at end of period

Right-of-use assets — plant and equipment
Carrying amount at beginning of period
Additions

Depreciation

Net foreign exchange movement

Carrying amount at end of period

9. FRAEEE(E)
HER
i 940 S U A fofE )R A R B i (LY
2019 2018
20195 20184F
AU$’000 AU$/000
FET T
FRHEEE -
H13) B B T - -
NE 205 -
e (3) -
A Y IR T {E 202 -
FREEE-BERRE
40 11 B T (B 43 -
WNE 97 -
Pres (21) -
I 58 ) o (1
AR AY IR 1 (B 118 -

! On 1 January 2019, the Group reclassified the carrying value of
finance leases previously held under property, plant and equipment
as right-of-use assets — property, plant and equipment in accordance

with [FRS 16.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in interest-

bearing liabilities at note 13.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

i

"W A R A A

! TR20T94 1T H > ASE F AR 2 ] o B 5 ot e
HISE16 9B LATE IR Y3 ~ U Mk IH T 547
V9 il L 5 ) B (0 S 20 5 T —
I ~ BRI Bt

A SE [ 0 FH B B R A GHE B (R B
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for the year ended 31 December 2019

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)  Z=4 BARSER M =8 (4)
HAE2019F12 31 H L4

10. OTHER ASSETS 10. Hitt&EE

2019 2018
2019% 20184F
AU$’000 AU$’000
FE®T T¥oe

Current TED
Prepayments FAATRIH 163 429

Non-current IR

Environmental and other bonds F B AT =Y

at amortised cost! BRI S H A S5 5,289 5,480

! The environmental bonds relate to cash that has been deposited
with Swedish and Finnish government authorities. The bonds are
held in an interest-bearing account and can only be drawn down
when rehabilitation programs have been completed and authorised
by the relevant government authority.

The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to credit risk is
disclosed in note 24(d).

11. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables and accruals

The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to credit risk is
disclosed in note 24(d).

Ageing Analysis

An aged analysis of the trade creditors and accruals as at
the end of the reporting period, based on invoice date, is as
follows:

Within 1 month — {8 A A

1 to 2 months — Z 1 H
2 to 3 months W £ =1 H
Over 3 months R =1 A

Trade payables and accruals

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
AR A R A A

11.

B oy MEA RO R s et 2 T

B o MEA SR R e R 2T

1 TR ORAEE 5 B A7 A il M % 25 Tl BURT A 1
BEHR - BHETIUSHERFRE - (EEER
TE 58 BT A 15 A B O R R IRF 7 T 42
I -

oy TR R £ B B A MR R 24(d) B

ﬁgo

ESRHMENSRIE
2019 2018
20195 20184E
AU$’000 AU$’000
FET LT
7,049 6,409

o BT T B 0 £ B LB S MR R 24(d)

Eé,o

AR DA
TR IR - #2885 HOWET S AT
SRR e 2 T B HRES A AT I T

2019 2018
20195 20184F
AU$’000 AU$’000
FET FoC
6,959 5,418

33 974

25 10

32 7

7,049 6,409




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

12. PROVISIONS

Current i
Employee entitlements 1 B HE 4R
Other HAth

Non-current FEFRE
Employee entitlements & B e
Rehabilitation 1528
Rehabilitation movement Vi d)

Balance at 1 January 2019

Additions NE

Rehabilitation borrowing
discount unwound

Net foreign exchange movement

Balance at 31 December 2019

The provisions for rehabilitation are recorded in relation
to the gold mining operations for the rehabilitation of the
disturbed mining area to a state acceptable to various
Swedish and Finnish authorities. While rehabilitation is
performed progressively where possible, final rehabilitation
of the disturbed mining area is not expected until the
cessation of production. Accordingly, the provisions are
expected to be settled primarily at the end of the mine
life, although some amounts will be settled during the
mine life. Rehabilitation provisions are estimated based on
survey data, external contracted rates and the timing of the
current mining schedule. Provisions are discounted based
on rates that reflect current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to that liability. The
discount rate utilised for Finland in 2019 was 0% (2018:
0%) and in Sweden was 0% (2018: 0%). Additions during
the relevant periods to the rehabilitation provision include
obligations that do not have an associated mining asset
recognised at the end of the reporting date. A contingent
liability in relation to the Groups Svartliden rehabilitation
provision has been disclosed at note 22.

The Group continues to complete progressive
rehabilitation at all its sites but the works associated with
these rehabilitation provisions are not expected to be
undertaken in the subsequent reporting period.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

i

"W A R A A

R20194E1 H 1 H &R
7 [ w4 AR
1 HE A ) 0

#20194E12 H31 H 4588

»‘/T III E?f%*ﬁi%l}ﬁ (NE)
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E

12. #4%

ATBL

2019 2018
20195 20184F
AU$’000 AU$'000
FET T
2,263 1,762
- 130
2,263 1,892
122 86
18,992 12,531
19,114 12,617
12,531
6,768
(307)
18,992

TG AR AR i 4 W A PR 2B v 8k > 2
2 BH 4R [ B 15 2] By e B2 S5 7 22 R AR ]
2R AE - EEAE T RERIIB UL N B2 i
1T1E2R > HIEFHEEE 2 A g ¥ 281
PROR R IGETT R AR IR - L > TERHA B
B 3 e R0 L B A A5 R IRR A5 A > T
ARG ETR L F A A P AT o 1R 2R
W TIARIE S R ~ ANEE K R CE T
PRORTHE () R R AT AN T o B T30
W iy R R (L ) T 3 A ) 2 3R
5% TH A B4 1Y Rl B AT T B - 2019$
SR AT T BLR F0% (20184F © 0%)
it M 5 0% (20184F : 0%) © ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁ
SRIBEAG 10 B8 0 G 4500 MRS A IR A H R
HESR I AH B PR 2 1 RS - AL E
Svartlidenf8 2B # #§ 1Y 5 9% & 18 © i Mt 5E
224 7% o

7 5% ) 4 79 A L P A 355 i 2 il 2 AR
B MEBEZSF BRI B I LR BN
B T — AT o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

13. INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES

RO BB AR B RE (48
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E
13. stEEE&

2019 2018
20195 20184
AU$’000 AU$’000
FET T
Current liabilities ik =R
Lease liabilities’ HEAMRE 65 7
65 7
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Loan principal B AL 6,000 4,000
Revaluation of HKD denominated EHHETOH (B A EE Al
drawdowns 293 249
Lease liabilities! HEA M 242 29
6,535 4,278
1 The Group's right-of-use lease assets are included at note 9. 1 AE B AL A W M a9 -
As at 31 December 2019: Interest Rate Maturity HK$’000 AU$000
20194124310 : A= 3I#H TET FHET
AP Finance Limited
AP Finance Limited
Australian Dollar denominated drawdowns 4% 30 June 2021 - 3,000
IR ICH (42 5 202168308
Hong Kong Dollar denominated drawdowns 4% 30 June 2021 17,961 3,293
HETCA (E 4R 2021F6H30H

The Group has a Hong Kong Dollar denominated
unsecured Loan Facility with AP Finance Limited (“Loan
Facility”) for the Australian Dollars (“AUD”) equivalent of
AU$12.0 million. On 22 November 2019, the Company
extended the Loan Facility availability period from 30
June 2020 to 30 June 2021; all other terms and conditions
remained unchanged.

The Company has agreed with AP Finance Limited that
the September 2018, January and March 2019 drawdowns
of AU$1.0 million each will be repayable in Australian
Dollars. The rest of the Loan Facility remains repayable in
Hong Kong Dollars. Refer to Subsequent Events note 25 for
changes to the Loan Facility after year end.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

fiE

"W A R & A

A £E @ A 3 8 AP Finance Limited I 7T
(M ) ZE(E12.0 [ # R T AY ik 7T 51 (1 4
R RS (THERE 1) o 720194
11TH22H » AN wl i ] A5 8 3R E 1
WIBR H120204E6 H30 H #ERE 202146 A
30H > FrA Hofl e sk MR bHEd AR 5 o

KN FE BLAP Finance Limited € - i
20184F9H ~ 20194F1 A K3 A% BHEHUN
1.08 ST LA T ER - 8~ S
EA LA TOIEIR o A AR AR B AR Y
EH) > 2 MHEARFHM 25 -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

R BB AR B RE (48
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E
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14. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 14. BEIKRAE
2019 2018 2019 2018
20195 20184 2019 20184
Share capital [ZN Number of Shares AU$'000 AU$'000
REE TR RRL
Ordinary shares fully paid EHUE A 138,840,613 138,840,613 133,991 133,991
Movements in issued capital SRS

AU$000 No. Shares
TER Ji3ne i¢E!
At 1 January 2019 201941 H1H 133,991 138,840,613

Balance at 31 December 2019 20194E12 A31HIEY
Ll 133,991 138,840,613

15.

During the year there were no disclosable transactions
relating to the purchases, sales or redemption of own
shares by the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, of its
listed securities.

No dividend for the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018 was declared or paid by the Company. In addition,
the Board resolved not to propose any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

RESERVES

Foreign currency translation reserve HINEE TEE 53 et A
Convertible note premium reserve
Equity reserve purchase of

non-controlling interest

e i S

Foreign currency translation reserve summary

This reserve is used to record exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
subsidiaries.

Convertible note premium reserve summary

This reserve is used to record the equity component of any
convertible notes on issue. This is a historical reserve and
no convertible notes are currently on issue.

Equity reserve — purchase of non-controlling interest

This reserve is used to record differences between the
consideration paid for acquiring the remaining non-
controlling interest and the carrying value of net assets
attributed to the non-controlling interest. This is a historical
reserve and all subsidiaries are now wholly owned.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

i

%

BOA R

2 A

TG S 1k
2R I L PR £

I - B 41 B A5 ]SS T
B LA it 05 A e L
BT BT RS -

A\ ) S S SR # 2 20194E A2 20184E12 H
31H I E IR ATE - BuAh > #
ERBAEZMEE20194E12H31 H 1k
AEREEIRAT AT AR WIS -

15. f#f&
2019 2018
20195 20184F
AU$’000 AU$’000
FH®T Foe
(3,554) (3,160)
2,068 2,068
1,069 1,069
417) (23)
INEETE AR
5% TE (e A ) 7 R0 ok DRI 450 S 1 B 2 ) B
R A A Y B S, 25 o
AEBREEREHENE

% TE{i M TS O Bk AT AE AN A ] ] i 46
SEPRIRE SR TR OY o R IR L R S At A
FI TSI S 38 AT 72 AN R B S o

BHE#FE - BEFERER

% T P i e A ) f O 2 PB4 e
SAR AR Bl i 7% I 442 P HEE 2 F) 57 2 Y
AR THT(EL 2 (W] A9 22 30 o o JELGG A 20 JEE S0 £l
i > TR WA R BN B 2 SRR -
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190 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

16. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES

a)

b)

Details of Key Management Personnel

Directors’ and Executives’ remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)
(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation,

RO BB AR B RE (48
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E
16. TEEEBEAESRKE

) TEEBEAEHE
% TN R - 3
383(1)@) ~ (b) ~ () & (LA K 2 Al
(49 25 ¥ =5 M) 2 k) M09 56 2 35 0
HERMATHABHHWT -

is as follows:

Directors

EF

Mr Arthur G Dew
KRR S

Mr Wong Tai Chun Mark
TR#EE

Mr Brett R Smith

Brett R Smith44:

Ms Lam Lai

ME LA

Mr Carlisle C Procter
Carlisle C ProctertA4:
Mr Pak Wai Keung Martin
SRS

Mr Poon Yan Wai
AR

Executives

TEAE

Mr Neale M Edwards
Neale M Edwards’AE
Mr Daniel K Broughton
Daniel K Broughton’t/E

Compensation of Key Management Personnel b)
Key Management Personnel

Short-term
Long-term
Post-employment

Total

Non-Executive Chairman (appointed 7 February 2014)

AT I (R201442 H 7 HHEZRAT)

Alternate Director to Mr Arthur G Dew (appointed 19 May 2015)
KRR E AT S (R 2015455 19 A ZAT)

Executive Director (appointed 7 February 2014)

PATH S (R20144F2 77 HIEZAT)

Non-Executive Director (appointed 18 July 2019)

FBUTHE S (7201947 H 18 HEZRAT)

Independent Non-Executive Director (appointed 19 May 2015)

WS I ATE R (7220154F5 119 HEZRAT)

Independent Non-Executive Director (appointed 5 November 2018)
WS AT E R (722018411 75 HEZRATE)

Independent Non-Executive Director (appointed 5 November 2018)
WS I ATE F (7220184F11 H5 HHEZR(T)

Chief Geologist (appointed 19 August 1996)
AR (19964F8 19 HEZAT)

Chief Financial Officer (appointed 8 September 2014)
HIE MBS E (R20144E9 H 8 H EZRAT)

TEEEASHMN
TEEHAAR

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2019 2018
20195 20184E

AU$ AU$

BT LB

R 1,507,621 1,080,161
= 86,673 116,375
BIRIE 134,526 101,738
st 1,728,820 1,298,274

The remuneration of Key Management Personnel
(“KMP”) is determined by the Remuneration
Committee having a regard to the position,
experience, qualification and performance of the
individuals and market trends.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
AR A R A A

FEAAMAR ([ E2ZAEBAR D HM 5
I 2R B e AR RO - 5888 - &
JBE KRBV B T i M B i S



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

16. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
(CONT’D)

b)

Compensation of Key Management Personnel
(Cont'd)

Five Highest Paid Employees

The five highest paid employees during the year
included one Director and four specified employees,
for both 2019 and 2018 years.

Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining four highest paid employees who is neither
a Director nor Chief Executive of the Company are as
follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind

R BB AR B RE (48
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E
16. TEEBAEHE(E)

b)

Frae -~ G R EYF

Performance related bonuses FRUUHBEAL
Pension scheme contributions AR FT R
Total FEE

The number of Non-Director and Non-Chief Executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell
within the following bands, presented in Hong Kong
Dollars, is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000

Z % 1,000,000 7T
1,000,001#ICE

1,500,000% G
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 # T &

2,000,000 70
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 T E

2,500,000% 7T
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 L E

3,000,000 7C
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 # 0 E

3,500,000%% 7T
Total et

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

i

%

BOA R

2 A

FTEEEASHM(E)

LI B I A
20194F K 20184F > 4E A HA B 15
HriE B A — & LU A48 e R

E o

BRI A5/ 7B 9N 41T A 2
B8 T DOt PR L0 1 P
i

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE

2019 2018

20194 20184

AU$ AU$

BT EASTH

fi 963,862 924,852
26,432 50,995

206,687 165,516

1,196,981 1,141,363

FmA A DT i E (LLHE ST 2 51) i 9k
S N IE S ARATEON B B # g B
NBESIT

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2019 2018
20195 20184F
2 1
2 2
- 1
4 4
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REMUNERATION

In Australian dollars
Directors

Mr Arthur G Dew !
(Non-Executive Chairman)

Mr Brett R Smith 2
(Executive Director)

Ms Lam Lai®
(Non-Executive Director)

Mr Carlisle C Proctor
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

Mr. Poon Yan Wai
(Indepenent Non-Executive Director)

Mr. Pak Wai Keung Martin
(Indepenent Non-Executive Director)

Mr Mark Wong
(Alternate Director)

Total all specified Directors

Specified Executives
Mr Neale M Edwards
(Chief Geologist)

Mr Daniel K Broughton
(Chief Financial Officer)

Total all named Executives

Total all specified Directors and Executives

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
AR A R A A

for the year ended 31 December 2019

ozl
gz

KA
GFRfRLR)

Brett R Smith ;2
(HhEs)

Carlisle C Procter i
(BiFAfES)

e
(B EATES)

HERLE
(B EATES)

N i
(BEEF)
feEEESEH

EEBAR
Neale M Edwards
(HRHERR)

Daniel K Broughton /%
(BRHBE)

RS AR S

fEKEEER
fimAB&S

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

17. DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS’

A B BB A I (A

HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E

17. EERSWBTAEEHMH

Post-

Short-Term Other Long-Term Benefits ~ Employment

it A RBEN Bk
Proportion of
Annual  Long Service Super- Remuneration
Salary Leave Leave  annuation Total  Performance
&Fees Bonuses Accrued Accrued Benefits  Emoluments Related
JEit R REARE
Fenes B EHER 0 BEEE  B2eEA FHAR  HHOLA
AUD AUD AUD AUD AUD AUD %

o L i L L L

2019 90,000 - - - 8,550 98,550 -
2018 90,000 - - - 8,550 96,550 -
2019 345419 509,195 28,426 10,833 81,188 975,061 52%
2018 300,000 200,000 26,591 19,69 47,500 593,767 34%
2019 31,547 - - - - 31,547 -
2018 - - - - - - -
2019 40,000 - - - 3,800 43,800 -
2018 37,930 - - - 3,603 41,533 -
2019 30,000 - - - - 30,000 -
2018 4,615 - - - - 4,615 -
2019 30,000 - - - - 30,000 -
2018 4,615 - - - - 4,615 -
2019 - - - - - - -
2018 - - - - - - -
2019 566,966 509,195 2426 10,833 93538 1208958 2%
2018 437,160 200,000 26,591 19,696 59,053 743,100 7%
W9 21469 - 19,030 4,082 0% 258206 -
018 208000 - 18437 3,958 19760 250155 -
W9 216762 - 19214 5,088 059 261,636 -
2018 210,000 25,000 18,614 29,079 22,325 305,018 8%
2019 431,460 - 38,244 9,170 40,988 519,862 -
2018 418,000 25,000 37,051 33,07 42,085 555,173 5%
2019 998,426 509,195 06,670 20,003 134,526 1,728,820 29%
2018 855,160 225,000 03,642 52,733 101,738 1,298,273 17%




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)  Z=4 BARS M =8 (&)
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E

for the year ended 31 December 2019

17. DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS’ 17.

REMUNERATION (CONT’D)

Notes:

1) Mr Arthur Dew received certain emoluments from Allied Group
Limited in relation to his services to the Allied Group Limited, a

substantial shareholder of the Company.

2)  Mr Brett Smith is also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
and his remuneration disclosed above include those for services

rendered by him as Chief Executive Officer.

3)  Ms Lam Lai was appointed Non-Executive Director effective from 18

July 2019.

The Executive Director remuneration shown above
is for the provision of services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-
Executive Directors’ remuneration shown above are for

their services as Directors of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a Director waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the reporting

period.

18. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

18.

The Auditor of Dragon Mining Limited is Ernst & Young.

Remuneration of Ernst & Young
(Australia) for:
— auditing or reviewing accounts
— tax consulting
— assurance services relating to the
Hong Kong listing

Remuneration of Ernst & Young
(other than Australia) for:

— auditing or reviewing accounts

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
AR A R A A

EERERBTAEHMN(E)

B

1) BKEREE SR ) AR AN v Y R R S SR A
PR 2 ) AR 5 T AU 5 4 BT B w08 T
M -

2)  Brett Smith/EA JR B AN A AT ELAESE > 3
JIT AR 8 () T 55 LA 2 4T A A AL IR S 1
WIS

3)  MELLR20194E7 A 18 HIERAT A EHUITH
$ °

SO R AT I i AR A R R
7B [ 1 25 4R SRR S BT WA ) S8

L SCHTR AT S O S IR AT R
P 72y VE Ty A o ) S S (A RS BT WA )
o

0 T MO S A o] 0 ] AT
e T <6 14 22 B
o BB 355 B

HE R PR 2 B A A% B 5 27 B fi o
BT o

2019 2018
20195 20184F
AU$ AU$
BT T
BT e RS
DA MRS 19 35 M (L)
—Frta MR 163,193 248,267
— B sh 44,869 33,000
— B AR
B T RS - 260,869
208,062 542,136
BT e TRl Tt
DA RS B 35
(I DA b )
—FEH R H 93,432 94,934
93,432 94,934
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194 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

19. EARNINGS PER SHARE

RO BB AR B RE (48
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E
19. EREF

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by
dividing net profit or loss for the period attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
period.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by
dividing the net profit or loss attributable to ordinary
shareholders of the parent by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period
(adjusted for the effects of dilutive options and dilutive
convertible notes). There have been no post balance sheet
movements impacting the diluted earnings per share.

The following reflects the income and share data used in
the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:

B A B R ) LUBE S R 2 A A
N S0 PR i 1 s 4 o AL AU R0 2 9%
A7 A S I BT

1o M L) Y DI ) R R A
A 14 s 8RR AR A0 L T
P-4 5k L 0 M 4
HE e T B 1 B A o AR <
P S R 80 1 2
ST -

DA S 38 g BB A e {28 ) P PR
WA B Je oy B

2019 2018
20195 20184
Basic earnings/(loss) per share BREXEF(FHE)
Earnings/(loss) used in calculation of basic  Fi A 1845 I HAZ F,/~
earnings/(loss) per share (AU$’000) (JEs48) my &R
(i 8) (T-T) 6,311 (9,531)
Weighted average number of ordinary G R AR,
shares outstanding during the period (B8 BN B 817
used in the calculation of basic 488 4 TR 24 B
earnings/(loss) per share 138,840,613 96,532,921
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents) HREARF () (4) 4.55 (9.90)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share SEREERR(BA)
Earnings/(loss) used in calculation of basic i~ 14345 ik 25 A1)~
earnings/(loss) per share (AU$’000) (148) & F,~
(548) (T#o0) 6,311 (9,531)
Weighted average number of ordinary FA w1 I R,
shares outstanding during the period (5 18) BN E 3817
used in the calculation of basic 3488 I A TR 25 B
earnings/(loss) per share 138,840,613 96,532,921
Weighted average number of ordinary FA R I R,
shares outstanding during the period (5 18) RN C 31T
used in the calculation of diluted 38 JE P IR 2
earnings/(loss) per share 138,840,613 96,532,921
Number of potential ordinary shares that 7~ ELJ#E T 0 I J2 [H] B
are not dilutive and hence not included T PR A v R
in calculation of diluted earnings/(loss) S A 7 P TR A 3 I
per share. These may be dilutive in BH o HARaET R
future if exercised ] RE R AR - -
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents) IR ZF] (k18) (43) 4.55 (9.90)

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

"W A R & A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

R BB AR B RE (48
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E
20. BEAETRS

a) Subsidiaries
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the
financial statements of Dragon Mining Limited and
the subsidiaries listed in the following table:
Name of Entity Incorporation
EREE AR S 3t B
Dragon Mining Investments Pty Ltd Australia
Dragon Mining Investments Pty Ltd LY
Dragon Mining (Sweden) AB Sweden
Dragon Mining (Sweden) AB T S
Viking Gold & Prospecting AB Sweden
Viking Gold & Prospecting AB Fi i
Dragon Mining Oy Finland
Dragon Mining Oy S5
HE R A BR A Hong Kong

(Dragon Mining Limited) !
HEEIRA BR A 7 A i
(Dragon Mining Limited?)

! For translation purposes.

b) Transactions with related parties

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company has
the following transactions with related parties that
are also exempted from the continuing connected
transactions disclosures according to Rule 14A.73(6)
and 14A.73(8) of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

(i)

(i)

The Company has effected Directors’ and
Officers’ Liability Insurance.

In addition to his role as the Company’s Chief
Financial Officer, Mr DK Broughton provides
Chief Financial Officer Services and the
Company also provides administrative services
including offering the use of certain space in
the Company office premise located in Perth,
Australia as its registered office to ASX listed gold
explorer, Tanami Gold NL (“Tanami”). Tanami
is a Company of which Messer’s Dew, Smith
and Procter, the Company’s Non-Executive
Chairman, Executive Director and Independent
Non-Executive Director are also Non-
Executive Directors. The provision of services
commenced from 8 September 2014 whereby
the Company will charge Tanami for 46% of Mr
DK Broughton’s salary cost. During the year, the
Company charged Tanami AU$100,000 (2018:
AU$100,000) of which nil was outstanding at 31
December 2019 (2018: AU$24,750).

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
B A R 2 A

i

%

a) KMEXA
R BB R AL RE R IR ] B
ey PAlio g 2 &
Class Equity Holding
5l REFHE
2019 2018
20194 2018%F
0/0 0/0
Ordinary 100 100
8
Ordinary 100 100
e
Ordinary 100 100
8
Ordinary 100 100
e
Ordinary
100 -
il
{EAERR R T -
by EEEALHRE

3 A S 1 U S S 0 B ek At b 7 T 8
BN » RN FEIGA LU INERR
TR A A RA RS LT
HLRIZE 14A.73(6) X 14A.73(8)I6IE
fg% B 3L <2 B Y 5 R E 1 B O A

() ARFACEEFEERFHBABN
HAEARR -

(i) BMTHEEANFTERMEEZ
4N > DK Broughton & 4 7R [A]
WA BT A Mg A A
Tanami Gold NL ([ Tanami /)
HEE R B RS > AL
AR ) AR AT IR > AL
£k 1 N/NET R VA AR 7 R
78 i BT Y o T 22 TR AR A EL 5 1
W g o Tanamisg A2 7 JE#L
17 E KL ~ 4T 2 Smith
SeAE M M ST 3F L 4T E 35 Procter
SoE IR BT H IR AT E S —
Fvw] o A BIIRES H20144E9 1
8HBARIRML > #EIL » AL FH
5] Tanami Y i DK Broughton %%
H46% M H A - AR > A
/5 A [ Tanami Y& B 100,000 7t
(20184F : 100,000 7z) > Hr
20194512 A 31 H B R L A4
M AZ (20184 124,750/ 7T) -

i
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D)

21.

Entity with significant influence over the Group
As at 31 December 2019, the following entities have
significant influence over the Group:

(i) Allied Properties Resources Limited (“APRL”), a
wholly owned subsidiary of Allied Properties (H.K.)
Limited, owns 25,487,855 (2018: 21,039,855)
ordinary shares of the Company for an interest of
18.35% (2018: 23.68%). The Company also has
an unsecured AU$12 million loan facility with AP
Finance Limited (“Loan Facility”), a subsidiary of
Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited. The key provisions of
the Loan Facility include (i) an interest rate of 4.0%
per annum payable in arrears, and (ii) a loan with the
term up to 30 June 2021. Refer to note 13.

(i) Sincere View International Ltd. owns 27,500,899
ordinary shares of the Company for an interest of
19.81%.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Identification of reportable segments

The Group has identified its operating segments based on
the internal reports that are used by the chief operating
decision makers in assessing performance and determining
the allocation of resources.

The Group has identified its operating segments to be
Sweden and Finland, based on geographical location,
different national regulatory environments and different
end products. Dragon Mining (Sweden) AB, the primary
entity operating in Sweden, produces gold bullion from
the Svartliden Production Centre and processed ore from
test-mining activities at the Faboliden Gold Mine. Dragon
Mining Oy in Finland produces gold concentrate from the
Vammala Production Centre and, processed ore from the
Orivesi, Jokisivu and Kaapelinkulma Gold Mines.

Discrete financial information about each of these
operating segments is reported to the Board and executive
management team (the chief operating decision makers)
on at least a monthly basis.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

fiE

"W A R & A

RO BB AR B RE (48
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E
20. BEATRS (E)

21.

HEAEEEEATENEE
A20194E12 H31H » DLT Bl S A 45 (3]
HE KRR

() WEAEHE (F) AR R 2 &K
J& 72 7] Allied Properties Resources
Limited ( [ APRL J ) # A A& 2\ 7
25,487,855 % (20184F : 21,039,855
%) 5 % (B 18.35% % (20184F -
23.68%)) o AN IR A E (K
W) A BR 2 71 &g /A ] AP Finance
Limited 57 A 12 F 85 18 0 19 #E 4K 4 &
HRACE ([ E ) - SEREm F
B KA (1) I 12 4.0% B9 4F B 4
B R EZ MR 22021456 H30H
Filb o 5EZ M3 -

(i) Sincere View International Ltd. # A
A 8 W 27,500,899 Mt @ B (B
19.81%M %) o

T EER

AR E D IR E D
AR [ R )0 AL 0
S5 PR BT A A8 T A TR SR T

ARLEEAR PRI PR~ R [A] B R S ERIE
JRTR] B B B > A B8 A 1 0 2 Bl
M KIS o TEER LB R A EEE R
Dragon Mining (Sweden) AB Hi Svartliden
A RO AR E 4 8T I 2R B Faboliden
SR IR TAERBE A o 2% B Dragon
Mining Oy HIl i Vammala 4 7 w0 A=
AR5 0% > Sl T3 A Orivesi ~ Jokisivu &
Kaapelinkulma#: B £1 o

ALEE D5 A ) KT B R
(BB PR ) MERAT B 45 K87 20 38
14 J8 S A5 R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

21. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

Accounting policies and inter-segment transactions

The accounting policies used by the Group in reporting
segments internally are the same as those contained in
note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Segment results include management fees and interest
charged on intercompany loans, both of which are
eliminated in the Group result. They also include foreign
exchange movements on intercompany loans denominated
in AUD, and external finance costs that relate directly
to segment operations. This segment results also include
intercompany sales of concentrate which occur at rates
that reflect market value.

Unallocated corporate costs are non-segmental expenses
such as head office expenses and finance costs that do not
relate directly to segment operations.

Disaggregation of revenue and major customers

External sales in Finland relate to concentrate from the
Vammala Production Centre in Finland. These sales are all
made under an ongoing arrangement to one customer and
the quantity of concentrate sales is agreed by the parties in
advance of delivery.

Inter-segment sales in Finland relate to concentrate on-sold
to the Svartliden Processing Centre for further processing.

External sales in Sweden relate to gold bullion sold on-
market through National Australia Bank.

The Group’s segments reflect the disaggregation of revenue
by geography and product types as described above.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

i

"W A R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

21. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

Segment revenue

Gold sales to external customers
Inter-segment sales

Elimination of inter-segment revenue

Total revenue

Other revenue

Interest revenue

Sundry revenue

Unallocated interest revenue

Total other revenue

Segment interest expense
Unallocated interest expense

Total interest expense

Depreciation and amortisation
Unallocated depreciation and
amortisation

Segment result
Pre-tax segment result
Income tax expense

Post tax segment result

Unallocated items:

Corporate interest revenue

Other corporate income

Corporate costs

Finance costs

Elimination of inter-company interest
expense and management fees in
segment results

Profit after tax as per the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss

Segment assets
Unallocated items:
Other corporate assets

Total assets

Acquisition of non-current assets

Non-current assets by
geographic location
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Sweden Finland Total
g Y Myt
2019 2019 2019
20194 20194 20195
AU$000 AU$000 AU$000
TR TR TR
pagl 6y
EHINREF B 5 41,360 11,713 53,073
Gy - 31,885 31,885
HRES 0 i 2 - - (31,885)
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Hipus
A Bl s 6 9 15
METE I 77 - 7 7
N WAl S & - - 51
Hih sS85 6 16 73
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for the year ended 31 December 2019

Segment revenue

Cold sales to external customers
Inter-segment sales

Elimination of inter-segment revenue

Total revenue

Other revenue

Interest revenue

Sundry revenue

Unallocated interest revenue

Total other revenue

Segment interest expense
Unallocated interest expense

Total interest expense

Depreciation and amortisation
Loss on disposal of exploration

Segment result
Pre-tax segment result
Income tax expense

Post tax segment result

Unallocated items:

Corporate interest revenue

Corporate costs

Finance costs

Elimination of inter-company interest
expense and management fees in
segment results

Profit after tax as per the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss

Segment assets
Unallocated items:
Other corporate assets!

Total assets

Acquisition of non-current assets

! Other corporate assets predominantly relates to cash and short-term 1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

21. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)
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deposits held within the Australian Parent of AU$9.3 million.

Non-current assets by
geographic location
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(7,319) 653 (6,666)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

22. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

@

(ii)

(iii)

Hanhimaa Royalty

The Group has a right to a 2% Net Smelter Return
("NSR”) on future mineral production from Agnico
Eagle Mines Limited (“Agnico Eagle”) with respect
to the Hanhimaa Gold Project in northern Finland.
Agnico Eagle will have the right to buy back 1
percentage point of the 2% NSR at any time for €2.0
million cash.

The Hanhimaa Gold Project remains as an early
stage exploration project as at 31 December 2019
and therefore the company has not recognised any
receivables from this agreement, as the risk of reversal
is considered significant.

Endomines Royalty

The Group has a right to a 1% Net Smelter Return
("NSR”) up to €1.5 million from Endomines Oy
with respect to the Mining Properties in the Hattu
Schist Belt in eastern Finland (“Mining Properties”)
as described in the Purchase Agreement dated 12
October 2006. The NSR is only payable from the
Mining Properties, after the Mineral Resource as
defined at the Pampalo Gold Mine, at the date of sale
has been mined.

Svartliden Rehabilitation Provision

In accordance with the Group’s legal requirements,
a provision has been recognised to provide for the
anticipated future rehabilitation costs at Svartliden.
The basis for the provision amount is derived from
the Svartliden Rehabilitation Plan (“Closure Plan”),
which is reviewed and updated as necessary by an
independent external consultant, in accordance with
the Groups Environmental Permit provisions.

In April 2017, work to update the Closure Plan was
completed and, together with comments from the
Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) and the
County Administration Board (“CAB”), was submitted
to the Land and Environmental Court (“Court”). While
the scope has not been disputed, the suggested value
of the bond is presently under appeal.

The submitted Closure Plan includes segregating the
potentially acid forming waste rock (“PAF”) from the
non-acid forming waste rock (“NAF”) into separate
cells. The cost of providing an engineered hard
covering of the PAF cells is included in the updated
costings provided to the Court in May 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

22. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

(iii) Svartliden Rehabilitation Provision (Cont’d)

On 3 September 2019, the Court provided its ruling
on the Closure Plan, whereby the Court:

(@) approved the Company’s investigation reports
supporting the Closure Plan; and

(b) required the Company to increase its existing
rehabilitation collateral security to SEK74.0
million. The increase can take the form of a bank
guarantee and is intended to provide additional
security for an engineered covering of the entire
waste rock area, in the event the entire waste
rock area becomes potentially acid forming. The
Company has appealed this ruling.

On 18 November 2019, the Company submitted its
appeal to the Environmental Court of Appeal (“Court
of Appeal”). The Company’s appeal challenged:

(@) the amount of additional collateral security being
requested by the Court;

(b) the permit conditions during the closure phase;
and

(c) the restrictions preventing the CAB from
incrementally returning the Company’s security
bonds as rehabilitation work is progressed.

On 16 December 2019, the Court of Appeal, having
read the Company’s appeal document and grounds
for appeal, granted the Company leave to appeal
the Court’s rulings. The Company is not required to
adhere to the Court ruling while the ruling is under
appeal.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has not provided
the additional security required by the Court for
an engineered cover to the entire waste rock area.
The current approved Closure Plan complies with
the known characteristics of the tailings, waste
rock and operations at Svartliden, the value of the
bond proposed by the Company reflects this scope
of work and is supported by calculations using
the rates of local contractors. The Closure Plan
reflects the conditions on the site and the necessary
activities to be undertaken upon closure based on
independent advice of the most likely outcome. In the
event of a fundamental change to the acid forming
characteristics of the NAF waste rock, the Company
may need to provide for an engineered cover of the
entire waste rock area and the additional provision
will be significant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

22. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

(iv) PEIC Dispute

On 9 March 2016, PEIC Oy, one of the Group’s
electrical contractors at the time in Finland, ceased
to provide electrical contracting services to Dragon
Mining Oy (“DOY”). On 20 December 2017, the
Company was informed by the Pirkanmaan District
Court (“District Court”) that PEIC Oy had applied to
the District Court summoning a claim against DOY.

On 17 December 2018, the District Court ruled in
favour of PEIC Oy. On 22 February 2019, the Court
of Appeal, having read the Group’s appeal document
and grounds for appeal, granted the Group leave to
appeal the District Court’s ruling.

The basis for the Group’s appeal challenges both
the reasonableness and legitimacy of a number of
historical demands being raised in PEIC Oy’s claim.
The Group’s initial defense was lacking in this area
and has since changed its legal representation.
The Claim Amount, which has been paid by the
Company, is held in escrow pending the decision of
the Court of Appeal which was heard in early April
2020. The Company expects to receive the Court of
Appeal’s decision in June 2020.

Regardless of the aforesaid appeal, the Group has
objected to all historical demands from PEIC Oy and
maintains the view that PEIC Oy does not have a
valid basis for its claim above the amount provided
by the Company. In the event the Company’s appeal
is unsuccessful, the claim amount will not constitute
a material impact on the Group’s financial position or
operating results.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)
for the year ended 31 December 2019

23. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

a) Exploration commitments
Due to the nature of the Consolidated Entity’s
operations in exploring and evaluating areas of
interest, it is very difficult to accurately forecast the
nature or amount of future expenditure, although
it will be necessary to incur expenditure to retain
present interests in mineral tenements. Expenditure
commitments on mineral tenure for the Consolidated
Entity can be reduced by selective relinquishment

R B RS AR B (48
HE20194E12 H31 H IR4ERE

23. BAZAEE

a) BiERRIE
H A AR S B RTE B B8 M RPAG B B 38 2
MR PER AR > A B A S
DAGR B BUA i AE M A > (ELAR B YE AR TH
B PR B - i A 88
RVt R U5 LR 30 IR 5 7 B S
RYE > AL D A T R IR A SRR Y B
SORYE o DUT RRANSE (B A W26 fR
R R R D B A8 A6 e A B 4R ZE SRk

of exploration tenure or by the renegotiation e
of expenditure commitments. The approximate
minimum level of exploration requirements to retain
current tenements in good standing is detailed below.
2019 2018
2019 20184
AU$’000 AU$’000
FRET THIT
Within one year —4E N 49 47
One year or later and no AR AR BB AR
later than five years 184 201
233 248
b) Capital commitments b) BEAREE - ‘
Commitments relating to the acquisition of equipment LI AT A {ER TR 5 B B e
contracted for but not recognised as liabilities are as ABRRIEIT -
follows:
2019 2018
20194 20184
AU$’000 AU$’000
FET THT

AN

Within one year
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

23. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS (CONT’D)

C)

d)

Short-term lease expense commitments (2018:

RO BB AR B RE (48
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E
23. BARAEE(E)

o EHHEERXAIE(2018F @ £&5

Operating lease commitments) FEIE)
Future operating lease commitments not provided for SO S 77 B 5 S 2 P A 114 RS SR AL A
in the financial statements are as follows: BEREWMT -
2019 2018
20195 20184
AU$’000 AU$'000
FHET T#IC
Within one year —4 R 14 60
One year or later and no TR AR AR
later than five years - 7
14 67
Remuneration commitments d) FEEE

Commitments for the payment of salaries and other
remuneration under long-term employment contracts
in existence at the reporting date but not recognised as
liabilities are as follows:

Within one year —4EN

Amounts disclosed as remuneration commitments
include commitments arising from the service
contracts of Directors and Executives referred
to in note 16 Directors and Executive Officers
Remuneration that are not recognised as liabilities
and are not included in the Directors’ or Executives’
remuneration.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a)

b)

Financial risk management policies and objectives
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including currency risk
and commodity price risk), credit risk, liquidity
risk, and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks, where considered
appropriate, to minimise potential adverse effects on
financial performance without limiting the Group’s
potential upside.

The Group uses different methods to measure and
manage different types of risks to which it is exposed.
These include monitoring levels of exposure to foreign
currency and gold price risk and assessments of
market forecasts for foreign exchange and gold prices.
Liquidity risk is measured through the development
of rolling future cash flow forecasts at various gold
prices and foreign exchange rates.

Risk management is carried out by executive
management with guidance from the Audit and Risk
Management Committee under policies approved by
the Board. The Board also provides regular guidance
for overall risk management, including guidance on
specific areas, such as mitigating commodity price,
foreign exchange, interest rate and credit risks, by
using derivative financial instruments.

The Consolidated Entity also has a risk management
program to manage its financial exposures that
includes, but is not limited to, the use of derivative
products, principally forward gold sales and foreign
currency contracts. The Company does not enter
financial instruments, including derivative financial
instruments, for trade or speculative purposes.

Primary responsibility for identification and control of
financial risks rests with the Board. The Board reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of the risks
identified below, including the setting of limits for
trading in economic derivatives, hedging coverage
of foreign currency and gold, credit allowances,
future cash flow forecast projections and financial
instruments if considered necessary.

Instruments recognised at amounts other than fair
value

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded in the financial statements at
amortised cost represents their respective net fair
values.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

i

%

BOA R

2 A

R B RS AR B (48
HE20194E12 H31 H IR4ERE
24, T A

a)

b)

EREMEEREREE

A T FF) S5 fok 74 2 ) 6 2 A
JEgx TG T B (A B e K
an EAR R B )~ fE BEU R - B &
JaEB B M) R By o A R ) R L g
B e < T 35 B AN R TR
P R (CIEE 28 ) £ A BRI
A5 ETEAE 1 R A SRt b 3 e T
B RBLNTEAEA T2

ASE B PR R IR] D7 i A i B PR
T A A SR B > B4 B BT T Y
B I o e B AR R BT DA RS
T35 365 S BEE e i < AR A T - I %
A AN [ B A S AR BEE A A ST R
AT Bl T RTINS A&
JEB @

YUAT T BILEAR o  HIME  BURTE
A% B B Y IR B B 1T B
JEe B TAR o S A AT
P 4 T EL S 0 2 R B PR (4
TR > BLAE BRI b (E A%~ SRBE -
A3 R A B g 5 B S 15 2

KRG I RN SO — TR R B A B
LR L B > A RS BRI fa
R ity (3 2 25 Ja 0 o < i 45 S o
B 40) o AR 22 W) 37 408 77 B 5 AR
FHVAR T AT 57 4l T2 (B 36 AT AF 4
TH) -

B S R ST ) B B )
ZHAL o ERGMEE ISR
7T AL 1 7 B BB (LA e
RGP TR T IRER ~ SN &
BPEIE 5 S  RRB SR E
TER K TH (A ) ) o

BEBE(DAEERKRIMNBINIA

B AR A A5 PR R Bk 1Y <
T J% 4 B AP SR T (0 S 45 LR
2 AB(EEHE

205



206

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

C)

RO BB AR B RE (48
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E
24, EWMI A (&)

Fair values for instruments recognised at fair value 0 BERAARBEEIANIANAAEE
The fair values of the financial instruments as well as il T B A SR AE B DA S A A
methods used to estimate the fair market value are AT EE N T A T o
summarised in the table below.
As at 31 December 2019 Asat 31 December 2018
10195128318 201851211318
Valuation ~ Valuation Valuation ~ Valuation
technique- technique- technique-  technique-
Quoted ~ market ~non-market Quoted market  non-market
market  observable  ohservable market  observable  observable
price inputs inputs price inputs inputs
(level 1) (level2)  (level 3) Total  (evell)  (leveld)  (level3) Total
fhERE- fhlE -
faEmE- E hfihik- ¥
mEIER  TEE fisTEE  TEE
TERE BARE BAHE tiAhE  BARE  EAME
-8 (E=f (E=R &t G- BZH E=R st
AUS'000  AUS'000  AUS'000  AU§'000  AUS'000  AUS000  AUS000  AUS'000
TEn Tan Tan TEn Fir Fix T T
Trade receivables at BAnBEAREH
far value through proftor loss B - 3,786 - 3,786 - 749 - 749

For financial instruments not quoted in active markets,
the Group uses a valuation technique such as present
value techniques, comparison to similar instruments
for which market observable prices exist and other
relevant models used by market participants. These
valuation techniques use both observable and
unobservable market inputs (Level 2).

Trade receivables relate to concentrate sales that
are still subject to price adjustments where the final
consideration to be received will be determined
based on prevailing London Metals Exchange (LME)
metal prices at the final settlement date. Sales that are
still subject to price adjustments at balance sheet date
are fair valued by applying a discounted cash flow
model incorporating credit risk and forward pricing to
estimate the present value of the final settlement price
using the LME forward metals prices at balance date.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2
during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

d)

Credit risk

Credit risk represents the loss that would be
recognised if counterparties failed to perform as
contracted. The Group’s maximum exposures to
credit risk at reporting date in relation to each class of
financial asset is the carrying amount of those assets as
indicated in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position.

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. Credit risk
predominantly arises from cash, cash equivalents,
derivative financial instruments, deposits with banks
and financial institutions and receivables.

While the Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales of its products are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history, the Group does have a
concentration of credit risk in relation to its gold
concentrate sales in Finland due to dependence for
a significant volume of its sales revenues on one
buyer. There is generally a six-week delay between
shipment of gold concentrate and payment from a
gold concentrate customer. The Company reduces its
credit risk in relation to gold concentrate receivables
in Finland by insuring 90% of the nominal value of
an assigned or internal invoice with a reputable high
credit quality Nordic financial institution.

However, as invoices are raised at the end of each
month and shipments occur frequently throughout
the month, there is credit exposure to the smelting
company for the value of one month of shipments as
insurance coverage commences when an invoice is
raised. Credit risk further arises in relation to financial
guarantees given to certain parties. Such guarantees
are only provided in exceptional circumstances and
are subject to Board approval.

In relation to managing other potential credit risk
exposures, the Group has in place policies that aim
to ensure that derivative counterparties and cash
transactions are limited to high credit quality financial
institutions and that the amount of credit exposure
to any one financial institution is limited as far as is
considered commercially appropriate.
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208 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)
for the year ended 31 December 2019

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

d)

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither
past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference
to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical
information about counterparty default rates:

Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY
Counterparties with external credit ratings 4 5F 5515 BFFHRATE T 7
AA- AA-

A A

B K a2 AR

Total cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables B SR HAEWRFIE
Counterparties with external credit ratings 4} #5815 BFER N9 FIr
AAA AAA

AA— AA—

A+ A+

A— A—

Counterparties without external TS S5 PRI 2 T 77
credit ratings

Counterparties with no defaults in the past # £ 3If 8 £ i) % F 7

B 5 e HA R WO IR A AR

Total trade and other receivables

o o B 25 Rk A PR (A
BWE2019F12 431 H IL4FE
24. £RIT A (&)

Credit risk (Cont'd) d) EERREE)

AR IR R AR Y < 7 1) 5 L
KA 2% SN E BRE AR (WA 20A B

BT A R AR A5 BT R
2019 2018
20195 20194F
AU$’000 AU$'000
FET TFoC
8,182 10,905
8,182 10,905
532 86
2 390
5,415 3,514
5,949 3,990
Ly e REWSGR T A5 B2 JmlB - L AR

For the purposes of determining credit exposures
on receivables, receivable amounts that have been
factored are evaluated against the credit rating of the
factoring bank, where the factored amount is insured.

Environmental and other bonds RRRHEMES
Counterparties with external credit ratings 4} 5615 BFFRHIHF 77
AAA AAA

Counterparties without external TS} b 5 AP R NTE T 77
credit ratings

Counterparties with no defaults in the past & {137 % 49 (1 3 F 7

Total trade and other receivables & S T A JFE A 3 T A

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

R B RS AR B (48
HE20194E12 H31 H IR4ERE
24, £WMI A (&)

e) Interest Rate Risk e FE@EME
At balance date, the Group had the following A H > AL EEEAT LA T B A %
financial assets and liabilities exposed to interest rate JEBE HL AR B 6 e A B i e S e Y 4
risk that are not designated as cash flow hedges: Rl B fE
2019 2018
2019% 20185
Floating Fixed Averageint.  Floating Fixed Average int.
interest rate  interest rate Total rate interest rate  interest rate Total fate
PRz EEAE a FERE O EBAE EENE ait PR
AU$'000  AU$'000  AU$'000 %  AUS000  AUS'000  AU$'000 %
rx TAn  fir Tar T Tix
Financial assets SHEE
Cash and cash equivalents & REE%(EL 8,182 - 8,182 0.83 10,905 - 10,905 0.97
Trade receivables - fairvalue  #e/A LI (ERT AR
through profit or loss ¥ A RElGRR 3,786 3,786 749 749
Environmental bonds RikfE% 5,289 - 5,289 - 5,480 - 5,480 -
17,257 - 17,257 0.83 17,134 - 17,134 0.97
The Group’s policy is to manage its exposure to A AR 8] 1) BAOR R T A e B 4
interest rate risk by holding cash in short-term, fixed TR R A5 BH R SR
and variable rate deposits with reputable high credit JC T R M 5 AT S5 ) AR A O A B
quality financial institutions. TE 6 ) ) 23 J B
The Group constantly analyses its interest rate ASAE FAS B o0 B R R > R
exposure. Consideration is given to potential renewals FIEBFRFEEEESE - i LR
of existing positions, alternative financing and/or the G R ARG B B
mix of fixed and variable interest rates.
f)  Foreign exchange risk ) IMERR

As the Group sells its bullion and gold concentrate
in USD and the majority of costs are denominated in
Swedish Krona (SEK) and Euro (EUR), an appreciating
EUR and SEK, or a weakening USD exposes the
Group to risks related to movements in the USD:SEK
and USD:EUR exchange rates.

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s
functional currency. The risk can be measured by
performing a sensitivity analysis that quantifies the
impact of different assumed exchange rates on the
Group's forecast cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

f)

Foreign exchange risk (Cont’d)

As part of the risk management policy of the Group,
financial instruments (foreign exchange forwards)
may be used from time to time to reduce exposure
to unpredictable fluctuations in the USD:SEK and
USD:EUR exchange rates. Within this context,
programs undertaken are structured with the
objective of minimising the Group’s exposure to these
fluctuations.

The value of any financial instruments at any point in
time will, in times of volatile market conditions, show
substantial variation over the short term. The facilities
provided by the Group’s various counterparties do not
contain margin calls.

The Company and Group’s financial performance
is also affected by movements in AUD:SEK and
AUD:EUR. In accordance with the requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards, exchange
gains and losses on intercompany loans that do
not form part of the Company’s net investment in
foreign operations are recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Company did not enter or hold any foreign exchange
derivatives. At balance date, the Group had the
following significant exposure to foreign currencies:

RO BB AR B RE (48
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E
24, EWMI A (&)

f)

SN LB ()

PR T2 74 B2 8 e oy PR 5 ) — 8 0
A S B W] BE A R 8 1) < T L (Sh BE
EI A A o DU 5% T i B 4 e B
e 57 S TG T 2 A 0 35 B 1 J,
Bt o FELLARUL T > BRRRTEI B AR
R R b A A o T B 1190 2% 55 08¢
) 14 JeU gk -

A o] <5z il T LA AT IR 26 ) (B (B2 €
JP T YL Bl S ] e 0 e K i e
ASE AT T R BER BV E A B AR IE

InpRRE 2

AR ) B AR A B ) B 2R B 32 B R
JC 5 B 4 v B R TG S R A ) 14
B o MR BRI E O R BUE
A RA A B TR 1A S35 T3 150 — AT
G 4 B ] A0 ) ] B S WA i M
s RTERR B 1R 48 R P AR o

HE20194E12 H31 HIE4ERE » AN
) I 0 T ST SRR A AT AT A1 BE AT AR L
H o A H » REMBAENIIER
AN LB -

2019 2018
20195 20184
AU$’000 AU$’000
FET T
USD exposure EEkE
Entity with Euro functional currency LUk T 1F 25 I RER i
Hi
Cash and cash equivalents Bl KBS HEY 4,636 20
Trade receivables ¥ 7 BN IE 7,592 1,395
Entity with AUD functional currency LU E 3 D REE 0T BT
i
Trade payables ¥ 5 A 3 - (853)
Entity with SEK functional currency LA B 4 56 BA TE 2% T R
BWHE
Cash and cash equivalents Bl KBS EEY) 364 19
Trade receivables B o REWCGEK A 452 1,233
Trade payables B 5 AL 0R (4,068) (1,210)
Net USD Exposure SNt 8,976 604
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) 424 BA S ER S Bl (4)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

f)

Foreign exchange risk (Cont’d)

EUR exposure
Entity with AUD functional currency

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade payables
Intercompany loan

Entity with SEK functional currency

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade payables

Net EUR Exposure

AUD exposure
Entity with EUR functional currency

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables

Net AUD Exposure

SEK exposure
Entities with AUD functional currency

Trade payables

Net SEK Exposure

HKD exposure
Entities with AUD functional currency

Trade payables
Interest bearing liabilities

Net HKD Exposure

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

[N <

B oA R 2~ A

HE20194E12 H31 H IR4ERE
24, EWMI A (&)
f) SMNERERR(E)

2019 2018
20195 20184F
AU$’000 AU$’000
FET FC
& T /=L B
LIMTCAE 24 2 E B 104
B
B4 KB 4558 10 -
B o HEA KA @) -
SE[H] (AN F [H] Bk 22,360 25,273
LA T 5 BT 2% L E
i B
B4 LB &5 EY) - 4
B 5 e A (14) _
R e JE e 1 22,352 25,277
BT ERE
LU AT 2 0 GE L 1Y
B
4 MR ASEY) 1 1
E 7 EWGK IR 359 358
T JE e 1 360 359
T B2 52 B A B
LU T AT 25 20 GE L 1Y
B
& 5 EAT 30E - (63)
Fity $4 5 B L gz 5 A - (63)
BTER
LIV AE 24 2 5E B 119
B
H 5 AT 3R (134) (533)
FrEAE (3,293) (3,249)
5 T B 1 R (3,427) (3,782)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

g

h)

Commodity price risk

The Group is exposed to movements in the gold price.
As part of the risk management policy of the Group, a
variety of financial instruments (such as gold forwards
and gold call options) are used from time to time to
reduce exposure to unpredictable fluctuations in the
project life revenue streams. Within this context the
programs undertaken are structured with the objective
of maximising the Group’s revenue from gold sales,
but in any event, limiting derivative commitments to
no more than 50% of the Group’s gold Reserves. The
value of these financial instruments at any point in
time will, in times of volatile market conditions, show
substantial variation over the short term.

The Group is exposed to commodity price volatility
on the sale of metal in concentrate products such
as copper and gold, which are priced on, or
benchmarked to, open market exchanges, specifically
the London Metal Exchange (LME). The exposure
is outlined as trade receivables — fair value through
profit or loss in note 5.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company
did not enter or hold any commodity derivatives.

Sensitivity analysis

The following tables summarise the sensitivity of
the Group’s financial assets and liabilities to interest
rate risk and foreign exchange risk. Had the relevant
variables, as illustrated in the tables, moved, with
all other variables held constant, post-tax profit and
equity would have been affected as shown. The
analysis has been performed on the same basis for
2019.

DRAGON MINING LIMITED

fiE

%

oA R

A

RO BB AR B RE (48
HAE2019F12 31 H L4
24, EWMI A (&)

g

h)

EmERERE

A 2 [ T [ 4 A S B ) SRR A B AR
45 [ JE R B B BOR A — B84 > AS4E
ASHRF R 45 4 il 1 L (G 4 9 1
B R E AR > DIRRKIEE
T AR TR HP R R S 0t B A R o
BT T > BRI AR
PR JEE M 4 v A 4 [ o & S i 2 > {1
0 3 T o PR AR A S R R R i A
RS RAI50% « 2SR T A
AT AR R S 1 A5 (349 A T (o 8 380 24
BESE PN T

AR Tt S D S < R AR E
B3 T 5§ 5 ot 009 D0 B P JL B > %55
il AR 23 B T 35 5 5 BT (OO0 L2 i 2%
558 58 5 T (LME)) B L. 23 R HE T 72
B o A IR B AR At 7 B 55 14 55 5 g
WeHIH — MR R E N B (R R -

HE20194E12 H31 HIE4EE > AN
) M7 4 5T 7 B R A AT AR R AL AT AR T
E_ o

BRBE D

T 51 A A A A [ 4 i I LR
SR AR LB~ A1 B JeRL e 1 SRR o A
RIS AR ESE - TAH
st B AR AN 5 BRBLAR Uk B S A 25
Er 7 B B (AN LL T BER) o 2019
FEFEAR ] SEHEIEAT AT -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

h) Sensitivity analysis (Cont’d)

31 December 2019

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade receivables - fair value
through profit or loss

Government bonds

Total (decrease)/increase

31 December 2018

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade receivables — fair value
through profit or loss

Government bonds

Total (decrease)/increase

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
AR A R A A

EREE
BalREFED
N AR AR R

#9253 RN HOR
B r

(D) /48

EREE

B MREFED

N RRER AR
f9'% 5% REia IR

Bz

(@69\ ) /i%ﬁj]ﬂlz%%‘g

Ao B P B A B e ()

HE20194E12 H31 H IR4ERE

24. SRITE(E)

hy BREZW(E)
2019412 H31H

Interest rate risk -0.25%

Interest rate risk +0.25%

FEEB-0.25% FIEER+0.25%
Profit Equity Profit Equity
byl iR B A iR
Note AU$'000 AU$'000 AU$'000 AU$'000
ir3 TRx TRET TET TRx
1 (20) (20) 20 20
5 9 C)] 8 8
4 (13) (13) 13 13
42) 42) 41 M
2018%F12H31H
Interest rate risk -0.25% Interest rate risk +0.25%
FIZE B —0.25% FIR A +0.25%
Profit Equity Profit Equity
i 4 il i
Note AU$'000 AU$'000 AU$'000 AU$'000
i3 Fioo Fioo Tl Filc
1 (27) (27) 27 27
5 2) (2 2 2
4 (14) (14) 14 14
(43) (43) 43 43
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

h) Sensitivity analysis (Cont’d)

LR PA B R R MR (4])
HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E

24, EWMI A (&)
hy BEEDH(E)

31 December 2019 2019F12H31H
Foreign exchange ~10% Foreign exchange +10%
HNE-10% SNE+10%
Profit Equity Profit Equity
A B& byl Bi
AU$000 AU$000 AU$000 AU$000
TR5 A% A7 TA%
Financial assets %Eﬂ'ﬁg
Cash and cash equivalents B4 KI{ &5 (EY) 501 501 (501) (501)
Trade and other receivables \%lﬁﬁ—ﬁjﬁ%ﬂﬁln ¥ 804 804 (804) (804)
Intercompany loans ANl e 1,961 1,961 (1,961) (1,961)
Financial liabilities tRAE
Interest bearing liabilities SEAR (329) (329) 329 329
Total increase/(decrease) s/ (D) 2 2,937 2,937 (2,937) (2,937)
31 December 2018 2018%12H31H
Foreign exchange -10% Foreign exchange +10%
HME—10% HMEE+10%
Profit Equity Profit Equity
i A1 [0 il fifai
AU$'000 AU$'000 AU$'000 AU$'000
T T T T
Financial assets %Eﬂfﬁﬁ
Cash and cash equivalents S RBEEEY 128 128 (128) (128)
Trade and other receivables %Z %&EWEH&(,. H 976 976 (976) (976)
Intercompany loans SRR m] R 3,593 3,593 (3,593) (3,593)
Financial liabilities tRaE
Interest bearing liabilities ATEAE (52) (52) 52 52
Total increase/(decrease) s/ D) 4% 4,645 4,645 (4,645) (4,645)

Cash and cash equivalents include deposits at call at floating
and short-term fixed interest rates.

Trade receivables include AU$4.2 million (2018: AU$2.6
million) of gold concentrate and gold doré receivables
denominated in USD. Subsequent to year end, the Company
received payment for all USD denominated gold concentrate
and doré trade receivables.

Intercompany loans are denominated in AUD, SEK and
EUR. Though these loans are eliminated upon consolidation,
changes in the value of the loans due to movements in
exchange rates will influence the consolidated result, since
exchange gains or losses on intercompany loans that do not
form part of a reporting entity’s net investment in a foreign
operation are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss.

Interest bearing environmental cash bonds that have
historically been deposited with Swedish and Finnish
government authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

i)

Ao B T B R I

(%)

HE20194E12 H31 H IR4ERE
24, EWMI A (&)

Liquidity risk i)

Liquidity risk arises from the financial liabilities of the

Group and the Group’s subsequent ability to meet

its obligations to repay its financial liabilities as and

when they fall due.

The Consolidated Entity’s objective is to maintain a

balance between continuity of funding and flexibility

through the use of bank loans and equity raisings.

The contractual maturities of the Group’s financial

liabilities are as follows:

Within one year —HN

Within a period of more than one year —4ERL FHOR
but not exceeding two years (G E|

Management and the Board monitor the Group’s
liquidity reserve on the basis of expected cash
flow. The information that is prepared by senior
management and reviewed by the Board includes:

e annual cash flow budgets;

e two-year cash flow forecasts; and

e monthly rolling cash flow forecasts.
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2019 2018
20195 20184F
AU$’000 AU$’000
FHET T
7,320 6,516
6,555 4,249
13,875 10,765
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

25. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER PERIOD END

On 22 January 2020, the Company made a voluntary
prepayment towards its Loan Facility of HK$18,063,577
(including interest payable to that date) representing the
portion of the Loan Facility repayable in Hong Kong
dollars. At the date of this report, the Company has
AU$9.0 million in undrawn funds available. There have
been no other drawdowns since balance date.

In March 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak was declared a
pandemic by the World Health Organisation.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the pandemic,
together with the various Government measures so far
introduced, have not significantly disrupted the Group’s
operations. However, the scale and duration of possible
future Government measures, and their impact on the
Group’s operations and financial situation, necessarily
remains uncertain. This being the case, we do not consider
it practicable to provide a quantitative or qualitative
estimate of the potential impact of COVID-19 on the
Group at this time.

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared
based upon conditions existing at 31 December 2019 and
considering those events occurring subsequent to that date,
that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the
end of the reporting period. As the outbreak of COVID-19
occurred after 31 December 2019, its impact is considered
an event that is indicative of conditions that arose after the
reporting period and accordingly, no adjustments have
been made to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at
31 December 2019 for the impacts of COVID-19.
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25. HiREEAREE

R20204E1 H22 H » A 2k H & KR
% FEAE ) TE AT 3KE 18,063,577 # 0T (2
FEEEZ H WA FLE) (FORE3RNE
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TAAAESR A > B2 AT LA B 2 4 BRI
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26. BARERHE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)
for the year ended 31 December 2019

26. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURE

2019 2018
20195 20184F
AU$’000 AU$/000
FET T T
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Cash and cash equivalents Bl KBS EY) 33 9,273
Trade and other receivables B 5 e HoAth JE ik IE 83 60
Other assets HAth & & 36 56
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS REEEHAE 152 9,389
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y2k ~ s i 213 2
Right-of-use asset o P S 201 -
Investments in subsidiaries NG ER < - -
Intercompany loans B 1 1 2 ) ] R 11,389 7,635
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEELE 11,803 7,637
TOTAL ASSETS EEHAE 11,955 17,026
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade and other payables © o) e HABEAS 30H 557 4,795
Provisions Bt 353 115
Interest bearing liabilities AR A 64 23
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEHEEE 974 4,933
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Provisions g 122 86
Interest bearing liabilities FTE A 6,454 4,249
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEEHEE 6,576 4,335
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEHE 7,550 9,268
NET ASSETS EEFE 4,405 7,758
EQUITY i
Contributed equity AU A 133,991 133,991
Reserves it 2,068 2,068
Accumulated losses EETEHE (131,654) (128,301)
TOTAL SHARE HOLDERS EQUITY RERERAERE 4,405 7,758
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) e

for the year ended 31 December 2019

26. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURE (CONT’D)

At 1 January 2018

Loss for the period
Other comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive loss
for the period

Transactions with owners in
their capacity as owners:
Issue of shares net of costs

At 31 December 2018

At 1 January 2019

Loss for the period
Other comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive loss
for the period

Transactions with owners in
their capacity as owners:
At 31 December 2019

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
AR A R A A

R2018F181H

e 1R
Hob 2 T e i

39 T R

BN (DU A
kR
AT (FUBRAA)

#2018%F12H31H

R2019%181H

e 1R
oAt 2 TH s 1R

TR 2 T s PR AR
BB N (DUHHEA A

By
#2019%12H31H

S 25 e i ()

HE£2019F12 31 H L4 E
26. BATIERIFE(E)

Contributed
Note
Convertible  Accumulated Premium Total
Equity Losses Reserve Equity
] R
HHA Syt i T et HE 25 A
AU$’000 AU$'000 AU$’000 AU$'000
Tt Tt Tt TG
119,992 (111,971) 2,068 10,089
- (16,330) - (16,330)
- (16,330) - (16,330)
13,999 - - 13,999
133,991 (128,301) 2,068 7,758
Convertible
Note
Contributed  Accumulated Premium Total
Equity Losses Reserve Equity
EREE
L 25T EER RERE REREE
AU$’000 AU$000 AU$000 AU$000
FART TR TR TR
133,991 (128,301) 2,068 7,758
- (3,353) - 3,353)
- (3,353) - 3,353)
133,991 (131,654) 2,068 4,405




Financial Summary

The results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial years, as extracted from the Group’s
published Consolidated Financial Statements, are set out below:

Results

Revenue
Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Basic earnings per share

Assets and liabilities

Total assets
Total liabilities

Total equity
Equity attributable to owners of
the Company

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
AR A R A A

i

R A

PUF ARG
/NTE 7SN

AR A

EERER

B
AR

e A
LY/ 2PN

S B

7S JH 7 B A0 A1 P BB JBE Y SE AR DL R E B
BBk A AR ORI 2 £ B IRR)
FIIR

Year ended 31 December

BZE1ANALEE
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
20154 20164 20174 20184 20195
AU$/000 AUS'000 AU$/000 AU$'000 AU$'000
T T T THT TRT
76,836 55,039 41,270 37,850 53,073
2,563 5,363 (583) (9,531) 6,311
2,563 5,363 (583) (9,531) 6,311
2.89 6.04 (0.66) (9.90) 455

As at 31 December
R12A31H

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
20154 20164 20174 20184 20195
AU$000 AUS$'000 AU$/000 AU$'000 AU$'000
T T T THT TR
51,292 50,432 50,349 62,750 78,633
(24,449) (19,617) (18,990) (25,303) (35,269)
26,843 30,815 31,359 37,447 43,364

219



220

Tenement Register

e 6 we i

Held at
31 December
2019
%
R2019%F
12A31AH
Project ID Tenement's Name Type R Area ha
15H & BEER Lol % HEAE
SWEDEN
b
Svartliden Svartlidengruvan K nr 1 EC 100 87.54
e RT
2006:111 Ekorrliden nr 2 EP 100 455.39
R F AT
Faboliden Faboliden K nr 1 EC 100 122.00
AR
2016:75 Faboliden nr 11 EP 100 836.26
Al
2017:27 Faboliden nr 83 EP 100 1,006.72
DR AT R
FINLAND
BH
Orivesi 2676 Orivesi MC 100 39.82
TRIRRERT
ML2013:0006 Sarvisuo 1-2 ELA 100 41.10
PRI AT S
ML2015:0026 Sarvisuo 3 EL 100 56.56
A E)
Jokisivu 7244 Jokisivu MC 100 48.32
PRI AT
KL2015:0005 Jokisivu 2 MC 100 21.30
PRI T
KL2018:0010 Jokisivu 3 MC 100 8.97
PRI
ML2012:0112 Jokisivu 4-5 EL 100 85.76
R
ML2017:0131 Jokisivu 7-8 EL 100 18.60
Rl
Vammala 1895 Stormi MC 100 157.53
PRI
Kaapelinkulma K7094 Kaapelinkulma MC 100 65.10
PRI R

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
AR A R A A



EERERLT
DRAGON MINING
LIMITED

DRAGON MINING LIMITED
e ER AR 2 7

* For identification purpose only {13 5l
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